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	 The Regions (marked -) where the Company operates are shown on the following map:

	

	 Other publicly accessible data concerning the Group, including up-to-date presentations, supplemental 
packages with information regarding assets, liabilities and other information (it is hereby clarified 
that such information does not constitute part of this report and is also not included by way of this 
reference), can be found on the Company’s Internet website – www.gazit-globe.com, and the Internet 
websites of the Group’s public companies: 

	 www.equityone.net  
www.firstcapitalrealty.ca  
www.citycon.fi  
www.aere.com 
www.gazitamerica.ca
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C.	 Effects of the Financial Crisis 
	 The implications of the economic crisis that began in 2007 for the markets in which the Group operates 

have led, inter alia, to a certain adverse effect, which is not material, on cash flows from the Group’s 
properties and to an increase in cash flow cap rates; these factors have led to a decline in the fair 
value of the Group’s properties. During the second half of 2009 and through to the date of approval of 
the financial statements, there has been a moderation in the effects of the crisis, as described above. 

	 In general, the Company assesses that, as of June 30, 2010 and as of the date of approval of the 
financial statements, the crisis is still having localized effects on the operating results of certain Group 
companies and has a certain adverse, but not material, effect on the cash flows from the properties of 
those companies. Moreover, there has been no significant decline in the occupancy rates in the Group’s 
properties or in the average rent, nor have there been significant delays in rent payments that could 
materially affect the Group’s revenues from rent. The Company assesses that it will be able to continue 
financing current operations and its investment activities from the Group’s existing financing sources, 
namely the Group’s liquid balances, its cash flows, issuances of equity and debt in the various capital 
markets in which the Group operates, and its unutilized approved credit facilities. 

	 Notwithstanding the situation described above, a renewed worsening of the global financial crisis 
could affect the Group’s operations, its results and its financial position, in the event of a decline in its 
operating results and cash flows. It could also cause a worse decline in the fair value of the investment 
property, investment property under development and fixed assets of the Group. 

	 The Company’s assessments of the impact of a second outbreak of the financial crisis on its operations, 
revenues, profits and financial position are not certain nor are they under the Company’s control; 
they therefore constitute forward looking statements. These assessments are based on facts and 
data with respect to the present position of the Company and its business, the present position of its 
fields of operation and the markets it operates in, and macro-economic facts and data, all as known 
to the Company on the date of approval of the financial statements. In addition, the Company’s said 
assessments are based to a material extent on its present expectations and assessments with respect to 
future developments in each of the said parameters, and their inter-relationship. The Company cannot 
be certain that its assessments will indeed be realized, since they are subject to external influences 
that cannot be assessed in advance and that, as stated above, are not under its control. 
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D.	 Highlights - Second Quarter 2010   

(NIS in millions, other than per share data) 3 months ended June 30

2010 2009 Change

Property rental income 1,136 1,027 11%

NOI1 757 691 10%

Proportionately consolidated NOI2 420 378 11%

Gross profit 768 702 9%

FFO3 80 108 (26%)

FFO3 per share (NIS) 0.57 0.86 (34%)

Investments in investment property, investment property under development and 
fixed assets

953 615 -

Fair value gain (loss) on investment property and investment property under development: 
     Consolidated 
     The Company’s share

204 
118

(517) 
(244)

- 
-

Net income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company 149 (94) -

Diluted net earnings (loss) per share attributable to equity holders of the Company (NIS) 1.07 (0.75) -

Cash flows from operating activities 197 405 -

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 5,187 3,924 -

Equity per share attributable to equity holders of the Company (NIS) 37.4 30.2 -

Net asset value per share (EPRA NAV4) (NIS) 35.6 31.7 -

EPRA NNNAV4 per share (NIS) 32.1 35.2 -

•	 During the second quarter of 2010, the Group raised a net amount of NIS 185 million in share 
capital from the public, compared to NIS 480 million in the corresponding quarter last year. 

•	 As of June 30, 2010, the Group had liquid balances and unutilized credit facilities available for 
immediate drawdown amounting to NIS 6.0 billion. 

•	 Debt to market capitalization (derived mainly from the presentation of investment property 
at fair value) totaled 63.0%, as of June 30, 2010, compared to 65.6% as of June 30, 2009 and 
compared to 63.7% as of December 31, 2009. 

1	  NOI – Property rental income, net of rental property operating expenses, excluding depreciation. 
2	 The Company’s proportionate share in the NOI of Group companies, in accordance with the holding rate in the equity of each of the Group 

companies – refer to section H.3 below. 
3	  Calculated according to the EPRA criteria, as described in section H.2 below. FFO data and FFO per share data do not include the profit 

and loss from the early redemption of debentures and convertible debentures. 
4	 Refer to section H.4 below. 
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E.	 Highlights – First six months of 2010 (“the reporting period”) 

(NIS in millions, other than per share data) 6 months ended June 30

2010 2009 Change

Property rental income 2,274 2,028 12%

NOI1 1,491 1,353 10%

Gross profit 1,509 1,369 10%

FFO2 165 215 (23%)

FFO2 per share (NIS) 1.19 1.70 (30%)

Investments in investment property, investment property under development and 
fixed assets

1,866 1,107 -

Fair value gain (loss) on investment property and investment property under 
development: 
 Consolidated 
 The Company’s share

158

102

(682)

(280)
- 
-

Cash flows from operating activities 285 448 -

Net income attributable to equity holders of the Company 367 173 -

Diluted net earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company (NIS) 2.62 1.37 -

•	 In the reporting period, the Group raised a net amount of NIS 586 million in share capital from 
the public, the same as in the corresponding period last year. 

1	  NOI – Property rental income, net of rental property operating expenses. 
2	  Calculated according to the EPRA criteria , as described in section H.2 below. FFO data and FFO per share data do not include the profit 

and loss from the early redemption of debentures and convertible debentures. 
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F.	 The Company’s Major Holdings are Shown Below (Ownership Percentages are as of June 30, 2010): 

First Cpital Realty (FCR)
CANADA

USA

EUROPE

ISRAEL

BRAZIL

49.6%

66%

33.8%

60%

100%

47.5%

30.01%

100%

75%

50%

100%

Gazit America (GAA)

Equity One (EQY)

Royal Senior Care

ProMed Properties

Gazit Europe (Germany)

Gazit Brazil

Gazit Development (Bulgaria)

Gazit-Globe Israel (Development)

GAZIT-
GLOBE 

Ltd.

Citycon (CTY1S)

Atrium European Real Estate (ATR)

U. Dori

Acad Building and Investments

15.4%

100%

73.8%

Brazil 
±•

Canada
≥¥•Europe

≤∂•

Israel
∂•

USA
≥≥•

Brazil
±•

Canada
≥¥•

Europe
≥≤•

Israel
µ•

USA
≤∏•

G.	 Breakdown of Net Operating Income (“NOI”)1, According to the Company’s Operating Regions:

                         Q2 2010					               Q2 20092

1	 As to the Company’s share (“by proportionate consolidation”), refer to section H.3 below. 
2	 Excludes the Company’s proportionate share in ATR’s NOI, whose results were not consolidated with the results of the Company in the 

second quarter of 2009.  
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H.	 Additional Information Concerning the Company’s Assets and Liabilities
1.	 The following table presents additional information summarizing the Company’s assets as of June 30, 

2010, as described above: 

Name of 
company

Type of security/ 
property

Units 
(millions)

Holding rate 
(%)

Book value  
(NIS in millions)

Market value 
as of  

June 30, 2010 
(NIS in millions)

EQY1 Shares (NYSE) 31.1 33.8 1,624 1,882

FCR Shares (TSX) 79.5 49.6 3,045 3,993

FCR Convertible  
debentures (TSX)

 
158.0

 
-

 
606

 
580

CTY Shares (OMX) 105.8 47.5 1,659 1,218

CTY Convertible  
debentures (OMX)

 
42.0

 
-

 
212

 
-

ATR Shares (Euronext, VSX) 111.8 30.01 3,128 1,890

GAA Shares (TSX) 8.5 66.0 143 149

U. Dori2 Shares (TASE) 42.5 36.9 58 64

RSC3 Income-producing 
property

 
-

 
-

 
519

 
-

Income-
producing 
property in 
Europe4

Income-producing 
property

 
 
 

-

 
 
 

-

 
 
 

936

 
 
 

-

Land in Europe Property under 
development and land

 
 

-

 
 

-

 
 

270

 
 

-

ProMed Income-producing 
property

 
-

 
-

 
1,329

 
-

Brazil Income-producing 
property

 
-

 
-

 
378

 
-

Income-
producing 
property in 
Israel4

Income-producing 
property

 
 
 

-

 
 
 

-

 
 
 

1,274

 
 
 

-

Property under 
development and 
land in Israel4

Property under 
development and land

 
 
 
 

-

 
 
 
 

-

 
 
 
 

373

 
 
 
 

-

Total - - 15,554 -

1	 Represents only the Company’s direct interest in EQY (in addition, GAA owns an additional 14.2 million EQY shares). 
2	 Represents linked holding in U. Dori. 
3	 Presented by proportionate consolidation (60%) at the fair value of the properties, in accordance with International Accounting 

Standard No. 16. 
4	 Presented by proportionate consolidation (75%). 
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	 Below are the Company’s monetary balances (including balances of subsidiaries that are not public 
companies) (“expanded stand-alone basis”) as of June 30, 2010 (NIS in millions): 

Debentures 7,8461

Debts to financial institutions 4,025

Total debentures and debts to financial institutions(*) 11,871

Other monetary liabilities 472

Other liabilities 142

Total liabilities 12,485

Less – monetary assets 2,118

Liabilities, net 10,367

(*)	 Below are the annual repayments of debentures and debts to other financial institutions (NIS in millions): 

Year Debentures Banks Mortgages Total %

2010 - - 54 54 -

2011 523 1,1092 148 1,780 15

2012 523 1,1893 37 1,749 15

2013 655 31 215 901 8

2014 267 - 648 915 8

2015 826 - 130 956 8

2016 808 - 15 823 7

2017 743 - 57 800 7

2018 834 - 242 1,076 9

2019 1,208 - 11 1,219 10

2020 624 - 12 636 5

2021 and after 835 - 127 962 8

Total 7,846 2,329 1,696 11,871 100

1	 Excludes an asset of NIS 1,028 million that represents the fair value of swap-type derivatives, which are presented as part of the 
financial assets. 

2	 Subsequent to the balance-sheet date, NIS 528 million of the credit lines totaling NIS 1,109 million was extended until 2013. In addition, 
the Company is acting to extend the remaining credit lines for a further period. 

3	 ncludes a special purpose credit line to finance the ATR transaction. 
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2.	 FFO and EPRA Direct Result
	 As is the practice in the U.S.A. and in European countries, the Company customarily publishes 

information regarding the results of its operating activities, in addition to and without derogating from 
the income statement prepared according to accounting principles. In European countries where the 
financial statements are prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”), it is customary for income-producing property companies to publish their “Direct Result”, 
which is a measure for presenting the operating results of a company that are attributable to its equity 
holders, as well as the “Indirect Result” which is a measure for presenting the non-operating results 
of a company that are attributable to its equity holders, with this being in line with the position paper 
of the European Public Real Estate Association (“EPRA”), the objective of which is to promote greater 
transparency, uniformity and comparability of the financial information reported by property companies. 

	 The Direct Result is calculated as the net income (loss) attributable to the equity holders of a company 
with certain adjustments with respect to non-operating items, with respect to the fair value revaluation 
of assets and liabilities, primarily adjustments to the fair value of investment property, investment 
property under development and other investments, and various capital gains and losses, a gain from 
negative goodwill and the amortization of goodwill, changes in the fair value recognized with respect 
to financial instruments, deferred taxes and minority interests with respect to the above items. 

	 In the U.S.A., where the financial statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”), it is customary for income-producing property companies to 
publish their FFO results (which is the net income (loss) attributable to its equity holders, reported 
after neutralizing income and expenses of a capital nature and with the addition of the company’s 
share in property depreciation and other amortization), in accordance with the position paper issued 
by NAREIT – the U.S.-based National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts. 

	 The Direct Result is therefore essentially the same as FFO, with adjustments for the results reported 
under IFRS. 

	 The Company believes that publication of FFO, which is computed according to the directives of EPRA, 
more correctly reflects the operating results of the Company, since the Company’s financial statements 
are prepared in conformity with IFRS. In addition, publication of FFO provides a better basis for the 
comparison of the Company’s operating results in a particular period to those of previous periods and 
strengthens the uniformity and the comparability of this financial measure to that published by other 
European property companies. 

	 As clarified in the EPRA and NAREIT position papers, the Direct Result and the FFO measures do not 
represent cash flows from current operations according to accepted accounting principles, nor do they 
reflect the cash held by a company or its ability to distribute that cash, and they are not a substitute 
for the reported net income (loss). Furthermore, it is also clarified that these measures are not part 
of the data audited by the Company’s independent auditors. 
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	 The table below presents the calculation of the Company’s FFO, computed according to the directives 
of EPRA, and its FFO per share for the stated periods: 

For the 6 months ended 
June 30

For the 3 months ended 
June 30

For the  
year ended 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

NIS in millions (other than per share data)

Net income (loss) attributable to equity holders of 
the Company 367  173  149  (94) 1,101 

Adjustments to net income (loss):

Fair value loss (gain) on investment property and 
investment property under development, net (102) 280  (118) 244  845 

Depreciation and amortization1 40  83  19  46  33 

Losses (gains) from dilution of holdings in investees 
and disposal of properties and investments (34) (51) (14) 1  (1,136)

Adjustments with respect to associates2 2  199  -  75  342 

Gain from increase in holding rate of investees -  (464) -  (58) (759)

Revaluation of derivatives and linkage basis of 
liabilities (267) 70  (39) (39) 103 

Deferred tax expenses (income) 109  (4) 54  (30) (98)

Other adjustments3 51  21  25  (6) 85 

Total adjustments to net income (loss) (201) 134  (73) 233  (585)

FFO 166  307  76  139  516 

Basic and diluted FFO per share (in NIS) 1.19 2.44  0.55  1.09  3.98 

FFO after neutralizing the profit and loss from early 
redemption of debentures* 165  215  80  108  420 

Basic and diluted FFO per share (in NIS) after 
neutralizing the profit and loss from early 
redemption of debentures* 1.19  1.70  0.57  0.86  3.24 

Number of shares used to calculate diluted FFO per 
share (in thousands of shares) 139,069  125,956  139,050  126,623  129,706 

*	 The reduction in FFO, after neutralizing the profit and loss from the early redemption of debentures, in the second 
quarter of 2010 and in the reporting period, compared to the corresponding periods last year, is mainly due to the 
exchange of ATR convertible debentures for ATR shares, which was closed in December 2009. 

1	 Including the fair value adjustment to available-for-sale securities, write-down of goodwill and the fair value adjustment to the derivatives 
that arose from the ATR transaction. 

2	 Reflects the Company’s share in the adjustments of associates’ net income (loss) to the FFO of those companies. 
3	 Expenses directly related to the income and expense items adjusted against the net income for the purpose of calculating FFO and 

adjustment of expenses arising from the termination of the engagement of senior employees with the Group, an income adjustment 
from the waiver of bonuses by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Executive Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and also 
exceptional legal expenses that are not related to the reporting periods.
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3.	 Additional information is presented below concerning the Company’s share in the income-producing 
properties owned by the Group as of June 30, 2010, based on capitalized net operating income (“NOI”)1 
methodology. The presentation of this information is intended to provide additional information, based 
on methodology that is generally accepted in the regions in which the Group operates, which might 
serve as an additional method in analyzing the value of the Company’s properties on the basis of the 
Company’s financial results for the reporting period. It is emphasized that this information in no way 
represents the Company’s estimate of the present or future value of its assets. 

	 In calculating the NOI, the following assumptions were taken into account: 

a.	 The NOI for the period for each of the Group companies. 

b.	 The Company’s proportionate share in the NOI of the Group companies.

For the 3 months ended 
June 30

For the year ended 
December 31,

2010 2009 2009

NIS in millions

Property rental income 1,136  1,027  4,084 

Rental property operating expenses, net of depreciation (379) (336) (1,355)

NOI for the period 757  691  2,729 

Less – minority’s share in NOI (337) (313) (1,312)

NOI for the period 420  378  1,417 

NOI for the year 1,6802 1,5122 1,417 

	 The sensitivity analyses shown in the table below describe the implied value of the income-producing 
properties owned by the Group, using the aforesaid methodology3, according to the range of different 
discount rates (“cap rates”) generally accepted in the regions in which the Group operates, as of the 
date of the financial statements. It should be noted that this presentation does not take into account 
income from premises that have not been leased and additional building rights that exist with respect 
to the Group’s income-producing properties. 

	 Value of proportionately consolidated income-producing property according to the NOI for 
the second quarter of 2010:

Cap Rate: 6.50% 7.00% 7.50% 8.00%

Value of income-producing property (NIS in millions)3 25,829 23,984 22,386 20,986

1	 NOI - Property rental income, net of rental property operating expenses. 
2	 NOI for the second quarter multiplied by 4. 
3	 NOI divided by the cap rate.
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	 New properties and properties under development, which have not yet come on line and which are 
presented at their fair values in the Group’s books (according to the proportionate consolidation method) 
as of June 30, 2010, amounted to NIS 2,622 million. 

	 The Group’s liabilities, net of monetary assets (according to the proportionate consolidation method) 
as of June 30, 2010, amounted to NIS 19,341 million. 

	 Property rental income, as stated above, does not include the income from premises that have not been 
leased, with an area of 168 thousand square meters (approximately 1.8 million square feet) (according 
to the proportionate consolidation method). 

4.	 Net Asset Value (EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV) 
	 As is customary in the European countries in which the Group is active, and in line with the EPRA 

position paper, the objective of which is to promote greater transparency, uniformity and comparability 
of the financial information reported by property companies, the Company publishes net asset value 
data (EPRA NAV), which is a measure that reflects the net asset value of the Company, with certain 
adjustments, e.g., the neutralization of the fair value revaluation adjustments with respect to derivatives, 
which are treated as hedging instruments from an economic perspective, but which do not meet the 
criteria for hedge accounting, and deferred tax adjustments with respect to the revaluation of assets to 
their fair value; the Company also publishes EPRA NNNAV data, which is another measure reflecting 
net asset value (EPRA NAV), adjusted for the fair value of financial instruments of the kind referred to 
above and for the fair value of financial liabilities, and also with certain adjustments to the provision 
for deferred taxes. 

	 The Company considers that presentation of EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV data enables the Company’s 
results to be compared with those of other European property companies. At the same time, these data 
do not constitute a valuation of the Company and do not replace the data presented in the financial 
statements; rather, they provide an additional aspect of the Company’s results in accordance with the 
recommendations of EPRA. It is also clarified that these data are not data that have been audited by 
the Company’s auditors. 
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	 Presented below is the calculation of the EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV: 

As of June 30 As of December 31,

2010 2009 2009

NIS in millions

a. EPRA NAV

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company, per 
the financial statements 5,187  3,924  5,189 

Adjustments for neutralization of fair value of derivatives (961) (589) (723)

Add – Provision for tax on revaluation of investment property 
to fair value (net of minority interests’ share) 720  786  698 

Net asset value – EPRA NAV 4,946  4,121  5,164 

EPRA NAV per share (in NIS) 35.6  31.7  37.2 

b. EPRA NNNAV

EPRA NAV 4,946  4,121  5,164 

Adjustment for addition of fair value of derivatives 961  589  723 

Adjustments of financial liabilities to fair value (785) 463  (46)

Other adjustments to provision for deferred taxes1 (662) (598) (634)

“Adjusted” net asset value - EPRA NNNAV 4,460  4,575  5,207 

EPRA NNNAV per share (in NIS) 32.1  35.2  37.5 

5.	 As of June 30, 2010, the Company’s issued share capital comprises 138.9 million shares (excluding 
treasury shares held by the Company). 

1	 This adjustment does not include a provision for tax with respect to the revaluation of investment property in territories where, upon 
disposing of property, the Company customarily defers the payment of the capital gains tax. 
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2.	 Explanations of the Board of Directors for the Corporation’s Business Position, its Operat-
ing Results, its Equity and its Cash Flows 

2.1	 General 
	 In the reporting period, the Group’s investments in the acquisition and development of new properties 

and in the redevelopment, expansion and construction of various existing properties totaled NIS 1,866 
million and investments in investees totaled NIS 61 million. The effect of these investments on the 
operating results will mainly be reflected during the rest of the year and in 2011 and thereafter. 

A.	 Property activities 
1)	 In the reporting period, the Group acquired 9 income-producing properties, with a total G.L.A. 

of 92 thousand square meters (approximately 990 thousand square feet), and plots of land 
adjacent to the Group’s properties for future development, at a total cost of NIS 1,051 million. 
In addition, the Group has developed new properties and redeveloped existing properties at a 
total cost of NIS 815 million. 

2)	 Operating data:

Income- 
producing 
properties

G.L.A. 
(in 

thousands 
of square 

meters)

Average basic monthly  
rent per square meter

Change 
in 

same 
property 

NOI*

Occupancy 
rate

Debt to 
market 

capitalization1

30.6.2010 30.6.2009 30.6.2010 30.6.2009

FCR 175 1,975 CAD 14.40 CAD 13.79 2.9% 96.4% 96.1% 49.8%

EQY 178 1,830 USD 11.04 USD 10.74 (2.2%) 90.1% 90.7% 41.7%

CTY 83 947 - - (1%) 94.6% 94.8% 60.0%

ATR 152 1,108 EUR 11.19 EUR 11.31 7.8% 94.7% 93.6% 15.1%2

ProMed 12 98 USD 27.04 USD 24.2 (1.6%) 97.04% 97.7% 56.04%

GAA 3 15 CAD 12.6 CAD 10.3 - 86.1% 83.5% 68.4%

Gazit 
Development 11 113 NIS 86.7 NIS 84.6 5.9% 97.3% 98.0% -3

Gazit 
Europe 6 97 EUR 11.7 EUR 12.0 0.3% 91.8% 96.5% 58.2%

(*)	 Change in same property NOI in the reporting period, compared to the corresponding period last year. 

1	  Derived mainly from the presentation of investment property at fair value. 
2	  ATR’s net debt to market capitalization as of June 30, 2010 totaled 1.6%. 
3	  Gazit Development is financed mainly by shareholders’ loans granted by the Company. 
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3)	 Additional operational data:
	 FCR 

-	 In the second quarter of 2010, leases were renewed on an area of 14 thousand square meters 
(approximately 151 thousand square feet). The average basic monthly rent for these leases 
rose by 12.4%, to CAD 21.8 per square meter. 

-	 In the second quarter of 2010, new leases were signed on an area of 21 thousand square meters 
(approximately 226 thousand square feet), at an average basic monthly rent of CAD 19.42 per 
square meter. 

	 EQY 
-	 In the second quarter of 2010, leases were renewed on an area of 16 thousand square meters 

(approximately 172 thousand square feet). The average basic monthly rent for these leases fell 
by 7.6% to USD 14.77 per square meter. 

-	 In the second quarter of 2010, new leases were signed on an area of 12 thousand square meters 
(approximately 129 thousand square feet), at an average basic monthly rent of USD 9.35 per 
square meter. 

	 Gazit Development 
-	 In the second quarter of 2010, leases were renewed on an area of 4.4 thousand square meters 

(approximately 47 thousand square feet). The average basic monthly rent for these leases rose 
by 8%, to NIS 79 per square meter. 

-	 In the second quarter of 2010, new leases were signed on an area of 2.7 thousand square 
meters (approximately 29 thousand square feet), at an average basic monthly rent of NIS 98 
per square meter. 

	 RSC 
-	 RSC owns 15 senior housing facilities, encompassing 1,650 units. 

-	 As of June 30, 2010, the occupancy rate in the properties of RSC was 86.5% (84.8% as of June 30, 
2009). The average monthly rent per unit is USD 3,322 and the NOI rate for the reporting period 
is 38.8%. 

-	 The same property NOI has increased by an average of 7.0% in the reporting period, compared 
to the corresponding period last year. 

-	 Gross debt to market capitalization (derived mainly from the presentation of the fixed assets 
at fair value) totaled 56.7%, as of June 30, 2010. 
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4)	 Data of properties under development, redevelopment, and expansion

Properties under Development

Company name No. of 
properties

Total investment as of 
June 30, 2010   

(NIS in millions)

Cost for completion  
(NIS in millions)

Area (sq. 
meters in 

thousands)

FCR 3 121 101 10.6

EQY 2 206 39 15.8

Gazit Development 2 239 45 19.3

Gazit Brazil 1 179 48 14.5

ATR 1 - 38 18.4

Total 9 745 271 78.6

Properties under Redevelopment and Expansion

Company name No. of 
properties

Total investment as of 
June 30, 2010  

(NIS in millions)

Cost for completion  
(NIS in millions)

Area (sq. 
meters in 

thousands)

FCR 9 251 346 40.8

EQY 1 1 27 2.4

CTY 9 280 420 27.6

Gazit Development 1 73 14 10.0

Total 20 605 807 80.8

B.	 In January 2010, Gazit Development (through a wholly owned subsidiary) closed an agreement to bring 
in REIT 1 Ltd. (“REIT 1”), a public company listed on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, as a partner with a 
49% interest in the rights of three shopping centers located in Israel in the towns of Rishon Lezion, 
Afula and Yokneam (“the Properties”), for a total consideration of NIS 315 million (“the consideration”). 
Part of the consideration (NIS 24 million) was paid to Gazit Development by an allotment of shares 
in REIT 1 (which, on the allotment date, represented 4.06% of the issued capital of REIT 1 after the 
allotment). The transfer of the holding and payment of the Consideration for 49% of the rights in the 
Yokneam Property is expected to take place in January 2011. Management of the aforesaid shopping 
centers remains in the hands of Gazit Development, which is entitled to annual management and 
service fees. The transaction framework includes a mechanism to guarantee REIT 1 a return over a 
period of two-four years, as well as an incentive mechanism for Gazit Development with respect to 
surplus revenues. The parties have also entered into a cooperation agreement that provides, inter alia, 
customary separation mechanisms, a right of first refusal, etc. 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON THE STATE OF THE COMPANY’S AFFAIRS 

   GAZIT-GLOBE • Q2 2010 | 23

C.	 In January 2010, Gazit Development (through a wholly owned subsidiary) closed a transaction to bring 
in Harel Insurance Company Ltd. and a wholly owned subsidiary thereof (“Harel”), as a partner with 
a 49% interest in the rights of a shopping center located in Israel in the town of Kfar Saba, for a total 
consideration of NIS 347 million. Management of the aforesaid shopping center remains in the hands of 
Gazit Development, which is entitled to annual management and service fees. The transaction framework 
includes a mechanism to guarantee Harel a return over a period of four years, an incentive mechanism 
for Gazit Development with respect to surplus revenues and a consideration adjustment mechanism 
with respect to the area currently under construction, the consideration for which represents 15% of 
the total consideration for the transaction. The parties have also entered into a cooperation agreement 
that provides, inter alia, customary separation mechanisms, a right of first refusal, etc. 

D.	 In May 2010, EQY announced that it had entered into an agreement for the acquisition of Capital and 
Counties USA (“C&C USA”) through a joint venture (“the JV Corporation”) with the parent company of C&C 
USA, Capital Shopping Centers Group PLC (“the Seller”). C&C USA has holdings in 15 income-producing 
properties in California with a G.L.A. of approximately 241 thousand square meters (approximately 2.6 
million square feet), which have an estimated value of approximately USD 600 million. In consideration, 
the Seller is to receive 4.1 million shares in EQY and 10.9 million units in the JV Corporation, which confer 
on the Seller rights that replicate the rights attached to the EQY shares and which are convertible into 10.9 
million EQY shares or cash, at the discretion of EQY. A mortgage-secured debt amounting to approximately 
USD 330 million is to be assigned to EQY within the framework of the transaction. The transaction is 
expected to be executed at the end of the third quarter of 2010 and is subject to customary suspending 
conditions. Upon closing the transaction, the holdings of the Group in EQY will stand at 47.1% (42.2% 
assuming conversion of the units in the JV Corporation into EQY shares). The closing of the transaction is 
not expected to cause a material change in the equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. 
In addition, the Company (through subsidiaries that hold EQY shares; in the section, “the Globe Group”) 
has entered into a shareholders’ agreement with the Seller and its parent company, Liberty International 
Holdings PLC (together, “the Liberty Group”) and with EQY. This agreement, which will take effect on the 
transaction closing date, sets forth, inter alia, the following principles: (a) the Globe Group will support the 
appointment of one director who will be recommended by the Liberty Group, while the Liberty Group has 
undertaken to support the appointment of the directors who will be recommended by the Globe Group; 
(b) the Liberty Group has granted a right of first offer to the Globe Group in the event of a sale of EQY 
shares or units of the JV Corporation (with regard to the units of the JV Corporation – to the extent that 
this right is not exercised by EQY); (c) the Liberty Group has been granted a right of participation in the 
event of the Globe Group entering into a transaction involving any change in the control of EQY; and (d) 
the Liberty Group has undertaken to refrain from any action that involves an attempt to acquire control 
of EQY, and it has also undertaken not to acquire securities of EQY in excess of the agreed limit. 

E.	 For details regarding the Company’s private offering to institutional investors of debentures (series 
D), by means of extending the series, refer to note 3.e of the financial statements. 

F.	 For details regarding the raising of capital by EQY and the Company’s participation in this issuance, 
refer to note 3.g of the financial statements. 

G.	 For details regarding a debenture offering by FCR, refer to notes 3.c and 3.k of the financial statements.

H.	 For details regarding the raising of capital by FCR and the Company’s participation in this issuance, 
refer to note 3.m of the financial statements. 

I.	 For details regarding the closing of ATR’s purchase offer for all its debentures (from 2006), refer to 
note 3.d of the financial statements. 
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J.	 For details regarding the agreements entered into by CTY with three banking corporations for the 
provision of credit lines amounting to EUR 150 million, refer to note 3.p of the financial statements. 

K.	 1.	� On April 12, 2010, Midroog announced that the A1 rating on all series of the Company’s debentures 
in circulation had been reconfirmed and that the outlook had been raised from Negative to Stable. 

	 2.	� On July 1, 2010, S&P Maalot announced that the A+ rating on all series of the Company’s 
debentures in circulation had been reconfirmed and that the outlook had been raised from 
Negative to Stable. 

L.	 Subsequent to balance-sheet date, the company extended a credit facility in the amount of CAD 330 
million from 2011 until 2013. For further details regarding agreements entered into by the Company 
with banking corporations for credit facilities and the financial covenants committed to by the Company, 
refer to note 3.r of the financial statements.

M.	 For details regarding the initial public offering on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (“IPO”) by U. Dori 
Construction Ltd. (in which, prior to the offering, U. Dori had a holding at the rate of 95.5%; after the 
IPO, the holding was at the rate of 71.5%), refer to note 3.i of the financial statements. 

N.	 Dividend Distribution Policy 

	 Pursuant to the Company’s policy, the Company announces at the end of each year the anticipated 
dividend for the following year. In November 2009, the Company announced that the dividend to be 
declared in 2010 would not be less than NIS 0.37 per share per quarter (NIS 1.48 per share on an 
annualized basis). 

	 The above is subject to the existence of sufficient distributable income at the relevant dates and is subject 
to the provisions of any law relating to dividend distributions and to decisions that the Company is permitted 
to take. This includes the appropriation of its income for other purposes and the revision of this policy. 

	 The Company’s dividend growth in the years 1999-2010 is shown in the graph below: 

*	 Projected, assuming the decision of the Company’s Board of Directors regarding the dividend distribution rate for 2010 
is applied as stated above. 
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2.2	 Financial Status 
	 Current assets 
	 Current assets, as of June 30, 2010, total NIS 2.7 billion, compared to NIS 4.3 billion as of December 31, 

2009. The decrease is due mainly to the disposal of assets presented as assets held for sale within 
the framework of current assets, as well as to the reduction in cash and cash equivalents, which were 
used primarily to settle current maturities of non-current liabilities. 

	 Derivatives 
	 As of June 30, 2010, the derivatives arise mainly from swap-type foreign currency transactions, which 

hedge currency exposures on the Group’s properties and are presented at their fair value, in an amount 
of NIS 948 million, compared to NIS 699 million as of December 31, 2009. The increase is due to a rise 
in the fair value of the derivatives. 

	 Investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets 
	 Investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets, net, as of June 30, 

2010, total NIS 46.5 billion, compared to NIS 45.9 billion as of December 31, 2009. 

	 In the reporting period, the Group acquired 9 income-producing properties, developed new properties 
and redeveloped existing properties at a total cost of NIS 1.9 billion. The weakening of the Euro against 
the New Israeli Shekel, after offsetting the strengthening of the US Dollar and the Canadian Dollar 
against the New Israeli Shekel, caused a decrease of NIS 1.5 billion in these items. 

	 Current liabilities 
	 Current liabilities, as of June 30, 2010, total NIS 3.9 billion, compared to NIS 4.2 billion at the end of 

2009 and consist primarily of revolving credit lines and current maturities of non-current liabilities in 
the amount of NIS 2.4 billion, compared to NIS 2.6 billion at the end of 2009. 

	 The current assets of NIS 2.7 billion, the approved, unutilized credit lines of NIS 4.5 billion, and also 
the cash flows provided by operating activities, are together greater than the amount of the current 
liabilities of the Group. 

	 Non-current liabilities
	 Non-current liabilities, as of June 30, 2010, totaled NIS 33.3 billion, compared to NIS 34 billion as of 

December 31, 2009. The decrease in non-current liabilities is due mainly to the weakening of the Euro 
against the New Israeli Shekel and the repurchase of debentures by ATR. 

	 Non-controlling interests
	 Non-controlling interests, as of June 30, 2010, mainly consist of the interests of EQY’s other equity 

holders, who, as of the above date, accounted for 50.8% of EQY’s equity, the interests of FCR’s other 
equity holders, who, as of the above date, accounted for 50.4% of FCR’s equity, the interests of CTY’s 
other equity holders, who, as of the above date, accounted for 52.5% of CTY’s equity and also the 
interests of GAA’s other equity holders, who, as of the above date, accounted for 34% of GAA’s equity. 

	 The increase in non-controlling interests is due to the minority interest in the profit of subsidiaries and 
to EQY’s and FCR’s issuance of shares in the reporting period, net of the following: share acquisitions in 
EQY and FCR by companies wholly owned by the Company, EQY’s acquisition of shares in DIM, dividend 
distributions by EQY, FCR and CTY and the weakening of the Euro against the New Israeli Shekel in 
the reporting period, which reduced the NIS value of CTY’s equity. 
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	 Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company
	 Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company amounted to NIS 5,187 million, similar to as 

of December 31, 2009. 

	 The equity per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company as of June 30, 2010 totaled 
NIS 37.4 per share, the same as the equity per share attributable to the equity holders as of December 
31, 2009. This is after a dividend distribution of NIS 0.74 per share in the reporting period. 

	 Ratio of debt to total assets
	 The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing net debt to its total assets (derived mainly from the presentation 

of investment property on the basis of its fair value) stood at 63.0% as of June 30, 2010, compared to 
65.6% as of June 30, 2009 and compared to 63.7% as of December 31, 2009. 

	 The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing debt to its total assets (derived mainly from the presentation 
of investment property on the basis of its fair value) stood at 64.0% as of June 30, 2010, compared to 
66.5% as of June 30, 2009 and compared to 65.3% as of December 31, 2009. 

	��� The ratio of the Group’s net interest-bearing debt to the Group companies’ total market capitalization 
stood at 63.3% as of June 30, 2010, compared to 69.4% as of June 30, 2009 and compared to 62.8% as 
of December 31, 2009. 

	 The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing debt to the Group companies’ total market capitalization 
stood at 64.3% as of June 30, 2010, compared to 70.3% as of June 30, 2009 and compared to 64.4% as 
of December 31, 2009. 

	 During 2009 and in the reporting period, in parallel with making further investments, the Group issued 
capital, signed contracts for the partial sale of properties (by means of introducing partners), sold 
properties and financial holdings and reduced the level of its financial; leverage compared to 2008. The 
Group continues to consider opportunities to dispose of properties and operations that are not part 
of its core business (including by way of partial sale to partners), the merger of synergetic operations 
and the sale of financial holdings, this being in order to use its capital more efficiently. 
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2.3	 Results of Operations
	 A. The operating results are as follows:

For the 6 
months ended June 30

For the 3 
months ended June 30

For the 
year ended 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

NIS in millions (other than net earnings (loss) per share data)

Property rental income 2,274  2,028  1,136  1,027  4,084 

Revenues from sale of buildings, land and 
contractual works performed 331  258  175  137  596 

Total revenues 2,605  2,286  1,311  1,164  4,680 

Rental property operating expenses 790  682  382  340  1,369 

Cost of sale of buildings, land and 
contractual works performed 306  235  161  122  554 

Total cost of revenues 1,096  917  543  462  1,923 

Gross profit 1,509  1,369  768  702  2,757 

Fair value gain (loss) on investment 
property and investment property under 
development, net 158  (682) 204  (517) (1,922)

General and administrative expenses (322) (271) (159) (118) (584)

Other income 22  484  *) -  51  777 

Other expenses (4) (19) (3) (10) (41)

Company’s share in losses of associates, net (1) (154) (1) (58) (268)

Operating income 1,362  727  809  50  719 

Financial expenses (879) (856) (510) (373) (1,793)

Financial income 357  275  141  104  1,551 

Increase (decrease) in value of investments -  (41) -  (13) 81 

Income (loss) before taxes on income 840  105  440  (232) 558 

Taxes on income 181  26  98  (33) (142)

Net income (loss) 659  79  342  (199) 700 

Attributable to:

	 Equity holders of the Company 367  173  149  (94) 1,101 

	 Non-Controlling interests 292  (94) 193  (105) (401)

659  79  342  (199) 700 

Net earnings (loss) per share attributable 
to equity holders of the Company (in NIS) 

Basic net earnings (loss) 2.64  1.37  1.08  (0.75) 8.49 

Diluted net earnings (loss) 2.62  1.37  1.07  (0.75) 8.47 

*) Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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	 The comprehensive income (loss) is as follows:

For the 6 months ended 
June 30

For the 3 months ended 
June 30

For the year 
ended 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

NIS in millions

Net income (loss) 659  79  342  (199) 700 

Other comprehensive income (loss) (net of tax 
effect):

Foreign currency translation adjustments of 
foreign operations (516) 917  (40) (229) 1,022 

Fair value adjustments of cash flow hedges, net (14) (66) 11  50  (51)

Fair value adjustments of available-for-sale- 
financial assets, net 16  52  17  40  45 

Fair value adjustments of revaluation of fixed 
assets 4  (3) 5  (11) (8)

Fair value adjustments of initially consolidated 
investment, net -  22  -  -  22 

Group’s share in other comprehensive income 
(loss) of associates, net -  (10) -  5  (8)

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net (510) 912  (7) (145) 1,022 

Total comprehensive income (loss) 149  991  335  (344) 1,722 

Attributable to:

	 Equity holders of the Company 35  561  116  (150) 1,606 

	 Non-Controlling interests 114  430  219  (194) 116 

149  991  335  (344) 1,722 

B.	 Analysis of Results of Operations for the Reporting Period
	 Property rental income
	 Total property rental income increased by 12% to NIS 2,274 million in the reporting period, compared 

to NIS 2,028 million in the corresponding period last year. The increase is due mainly to the initial 
consolidation of the operating results of ATR and to the initial activation of properties whose development 
has been completed and the purchase of properties. 

	 Revenues from sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed 
	 The total revenues from the sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed amounted to 

NIS 331 million in the reporting period, comprising NIS 72 million from the sale of buildings and land 
and NIS 259 million from contractual works performed; this compares with a total of NIS 258 million 
in the corresponding period last year, comprising NIS 64 million from the sale of buildings and land 
and NIS 194 million from contractual works performed. 

	 The gross profit from this activity amounted to NIS 25 million in the reporting period, compared to a 
gross profit of NIS 23 million in the corresponding period last year. 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON THE STATE OF THE COMPANY’S AFFAIRS 

   GAZIT-GLOBE • Q2 2010 | 29

	 Rental property operating expenses 
	 The increase in rental property operating expenses in the reporting period, compared to the corresponding 

period last year, is due mainly to the initial consolidation of the operating results of ATR. Rental property 
operating expenses, as a percentage of property rental income, amounted to 34.7%, compared to 33.6% 
in the corresponding period last year. 

	 Gross profit from property rental activity 
	 Gross profit from property rental activity in the reporting period grew by 10% to NIS 1,484 million 

(65.3% of total property rental income); this compares to NIS 1,346 million (66.4% of property rental 
income) in the corresponding period last year. The increase is due mainly to the initial consolidation 
of the operating results of ATR. 

	 Fair value gain (loss) on investment property and investment property under development, net 
	 The Company applies the fair value model, as prescribed in International Accounting Standard No. 40 

(Revised) – “Investment Property”. As a result of implementing this standard, the Group recognized, 
in the reporting period, a fair value gain on its properties in a gross amount of NIS 158 million (the 
Company’s pre-tax share therein amounted to NIS 102 million). This compares to a fair value loss of 
NIS 682 million in the corresponding period last year (the Company’s pre-tax share therein amounted 
to NIS 280 million). The increase in the value of investment property in the reporting period is due partly 
to the decline in the cash flow cap rates and, in some of the regions in which the Group operates, and 
also to a certain change in the forecasted cash flows. 

	 General and administrative expenses 
	 The increase in general and administrative expenses is due mainly to the initial consolidation of the 

operating results of ATR, payroll expenses derived from the results of the Company and also professional 
expenses of a non-recurring nature that include expenses associated with EQY’s examination of 
transactions (refer to note 3.o of the financial statements). 

	 Other income 
	 Other income in the reporting period consists mainly of a capital gain from the sale of properties by CTY, 

compared to a gain of NIS 479 million from an increase in the holding rate arising from the acquisition 
of ATR shares and CTY shares in the corresponding period last year. 

	 Company’s share in losses of associates, net
	 The Company’s share in losses of associates in the corresponding period last year arises mainly from 

the Company’s share in the losses of ATR, which arose mainly as a result of adjusting the fair value of 
investment property with respect to income-producing property, property under development and land. 

	 Financial expenses 
	 The increase in financial expenses in the reporting period is due mainly to a loss from the early redemption 

of debentures, as a result of the closing of a purchase offer by ATR, in the amount of NIS 24 million, 
which includes the writedown of the balance of the original difference. The financial expenses reflect 
average nominal annual interest of 5.4% on the Group’s loans, compared to 5.5% in the corresponding 
period last year. The reduction in the nominal interest is due mainly to the adjustment of loans that are 
linked to the Israeli (known) consumer price index that rose by 0.4% in the reporting period, compared 
to a 1.1% rise in the corresponding period last year, and which has been offset against the rise in the 
variable interest rate in the currencies in which the Group operates. 
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	 Financial income 
	 Financial income in the reporting period is comprised of a gain of NIS 258 million from the revaluation 

of derivatives, which is primarily with respect to hedging transactions (mainly of the swap-type) (in 
the corresponding period last year – financial expenses), a gain of NIS 34 million from the realization 
of securities (in the corresponding period last year – a gain of NIS 51 million) and dividend income of 
NIS 5 million (in the corresponding period last year – NIS 16 million). In the corresponding period last 
year, financial income also included interest income of NIS 92 million from an associate (ATR) and a 
gain of NIS 100 million from the early redemption of debentures and convertible debentures. 

	 Taxes on income 
	 Taxes on income in the reporting period are mainly comprised of deferred tax expenses of NIS 117 

million, which arise mainly from an increase in the deferred tax liabilities relating to the fair value 
gain on investment property and to the change in the fair value of financial derivatives with respect to 
hedging transactions (mainly of the swap-type). Taxes on income also include the Group companies’ 
current tax expenses of NIS 64 million. 

C.	 Analysis of Results of Operations for the Second Quarter of 2010 
	 Property rental income
	 Total property rental income increased by 11% to NIS 1,136 million in the second quarter of 2010, 

compared to NIS 1,027 million in the corresponding quarter last year. The increase is due mainly to 
the initial consolidation of the operating results of ATR and to the initial activation of properties whose 
development has been completed and the purchase of properties. 

	 Revenues from sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed 
	 The total revenues from the sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed amounted to 

NIS 175 million in the second quarter of 2010, comprising NIS 139 million from the sale of buildings 
and land and NIS 36 million from contractual works performed; this compares with a total of NIS 137 
million in the corresponding quarter last year, comprising NIS 42 million from the sale of buildings 
and land and NIS 95 million from contractual works performed. 

	 The gross profit from this activity amounted to NIS 14 million in the second quarter of 2010, compared 
to a gross profit of NIS 15 million in the corresponding quarter last year. 

	 Rental property operating expenses 
	 The increase in rental property operating expenses in the second quarter of 2010, compared to the 

corresponding quarter last year, is due mainly to the initial consolidation of the operating results of 
ATR. Rental property operating expenses, as a percentage of property rental income, amounted to 
33.6%, compared to 33.1% in the corresponding quarter last year. 

	 Gross profit from property rental activity 
	 Gross profit from property rental activity in the second quarter of 2010 grew by 10% to NIS 754 million 

(66.4% of total property rental income); this compares to NIS 687 million (66.9% of property rental 
income) in the corresponding quarter last year. The increase is due mainly to the initial consolidation 
of the operating results of ATR. 
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	 Fair value gain (loss) on investment property and investment property under development, net 
	 The Company applies the fair value model, as prescribed in International Accounting Standard No. 40 

(Revised) – “Investment Property”. As a result of implementing this standard, the Group recognized, 
in the second quarter of 2010, a fair value gain on its properties in a gross amount of NIS 204 million 
(the Company’s pre-tax share therein amounted to NIS 118 million). This compares to a fair value 
loss of NIS 517 million in the corresponding quarter last year (the Company’s pre-tax share therein 
amounted to NIS 244 million). The increase in the value of investment property in the second quarter 
of 2010 is due partly to the decline in the cash flow cap rates and, in some of the regions in which the 
Group operates, and also to a certain change in the forecasted cash flows.

	 General and administrative expenses 
	 The increase in general and administrative expenses is due mainly to the initial consolidation of the 

operating results of ATR, payroll expenses derived from the results of the Company and also professional 
expenses of a non-recurring nature that include expenses associated with EQY’s examination of 
transactions (refer to note 3.o of the financial statements). 

	 Other income 
	 The other income of NIS 51 million that was recognized in the corresponding quarter last year consisted 

mainly of the gain from an increase in the holding rate arising from the acquisition of ATR shares and 
CTY shares. 

	 Company’s share in losses of associates, net
	 The Company’s share in losses of associates in the corresponding quarter last year arises mainly from 

the Company’s share in the losses of ATR, which arose mainly as a result of adjusting the fair value of 
investment property with respect to income-producing property, property under development and land. 

	 Financial expenses 
	 The increase in financial expenses in the second quarter of 2010 is due mainly to income recognized 

in the corresponding quarter last year in the amount of NIS 115 million, as a result of the increase in 
the fair value of derivatives, and also to the loss from the early redemption of debentures, as a result of 
the closing of a purchase offer by ATR, in the amount of NIS 24 million, which includes the writedown 
of the balance of the original difference that was expensed in the second quarter of 2010. The financial 
expenses reflect average nominal annual interest of 6.1% on the Group’s loans, the same as in the 
corresponding quarter last year. 

	 Financial income 
	 Financial income in the second quarter of 2010 is comprised of a gain of NIS 106 million from the 

revaluation of derivatives, which was primarily with respect to hedging transactions (mainly of the swap-
type) (in the corresponding quarter last year – financial expenses), a gain of NIS 18 million from the 
realization of securities (in the corresponding quarter last year – a gain of NIS 6 million) and dividend 
income of NIS 4 million (in the corresponding quarter last year – NIS 11 million). In the corresponding 
quarter last year, financial income also included interest income of NIS 46 million from an associate 
(ATR) and a gain of NIS 33 million from the early redemption of debentures and convertible debentures. 

	 Taxes on income 
	 Taxes on income in the second quarter of 2010 are mainly comprised of deferred tax expenses of NIS 83 

million, which arise mainly from an increase in the deferred tax liabilities relating to the fair value 
gain on investment property and to the change in the fair value of financial derivatives with respect to 
hedging transactions (mainly of the swap-type). Taxes on income also include the Group companies’ 
current tax expenses of NIS 15 million. 
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2.4	 Liquidity and Sources of Finance
	 The Group has a policy of maintaining an appropriate level of liquidity that enables the pursuit of 

business opportunities in its areas of operations. 

	 The sources of the Group’s liquid assets are its cash reserves (derived from its income-producing 
properties), credit facilities, mortgages and long-term loans and raisings of debentures, convertible 
debentures and equity. As stated, the Group uses these liquid resources in the acquisition, development 
and redevelopment of income-producing properties, the settlement of liabilities, investments in 
associates, other investments and the payment of dividends. 

	 As of June 30, 2010, the liquid assets available to the Group, including short-term investments, totaled 
NIS 1,528 million, compared to NIS 2,443 million as of December 31, 2009. In addition, as of June 30, 
2010, the Group had unutilized approved credit facilities available for immediate drawdown of NIS 4.5 
billion, compared to NIS 3.6 billion as of December 31, 2009. 

	 As of June 30, 2010, the Group has unutilized credit facilities available for immediate drawdown and 
liquid balances totaling NIS 6.0 billion at its disposal. 

	 As of June 30, 2010, the Group also had unpledged investment property, which is carried in the books 
at its fair value of NIS 25.7 billion. 

	 As of June 30, 2010, the Group has negative working capital amounting to NIS 1,236 million. The Group 
has approved, unutilized credit lines amounting to NIS 4.5 billion, which can be utilized immediately. In 
line with Group policy, the Group customarily finances its activities by means of revolving credit lines 
as interim financing and raises capital and long-term debt from time to time, in accordance with the 
state of the market, instead of the aforementioned revolving credit lines. In addition, the Company’s 
management is taking action to renew secured credit facilities, whose repayment commences in the 
coming year. In light of the aforementioned resources that are available to the Group, together with 
the addition of the positive cash flows from operating activities, the Company’s Board of Directors has 
determined that the existence of negative working capital is not sufficient to indicate that either the 
Company or the Group has a liquidity problem. 

	 Cash Flows
	 Cash inflows from operating activities in the reporting period and in the second quarter of 2010 totaled 

NIS 285 million and NIS 197 million, respectively, compared to NIS 448 million and NIS 405 million, 
respectively, in the corresponding periods last year. The aforementioned reduction is due mainly to 
differences in the timing of payments to third parties (primarily debtors and creditors). 

For the 6 months 
ended June 30

For the 3 months 
ended June 30

2010 2009 2010 2009

NIS in millions

Net cash provided by operating activities 285  448  197  405 

Adjustments for changes in asset and liability items, net1 91  *) -  18  (94)

376  448  215  311 

*) Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

1	 Refer to the consolidated statements of cash flows. 
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	 In the reporting period, the Group’s activities were funded by means of capital raised by consolidated 
subsidiaries totaling NIS 586 million, the issuance of debentures in a net amount of NIS 549 million and 
the disposal of short-term investments and available-for-sale securities in a net amount of NIS 156 
million. The proceeds from the above sources were used primarily to finance investing activities for 
the purchase of investment property and fixed assets amounting to NIS 971 million, the repayment 
of loans and the reduction in the utilization of credit facilities in a net amount of NIS 976 million and 
the acquisition of shares from the minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries amounting in total 
to NIS 61 million. 

	 In the second quarter of 2010, the Group’s activities were funded by means of capital raised by the 
Company’s consolidated subsidiaries totaling NIS 185 million, the issuance of debentures and convertible 
debentures in a net amount of NIS 223 million and the disposal of investments in available-for-sale 
securities in a net amount of NIS 138 million. The proceeds from the above sources were used primarily 
to finance investing activities for the purchase of investment property and fixed assets amounting to 
NIS 773 million and the repayment of loans and credit facilities in a net amount of NIS 137 million. 

3.	 Reporting of Exposures to Market Risks and their Management
	 The individuals responsible for managing and reporting the Company’s market risks are the President 

and the Chief Financial Officer of the Group. 

	 Since March 21, 2010, the approval date of the Company’s annual report for 2009, there have not been 
any material changes in the types of market risks and their management. 

	 As to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, from January 1, 2010 through June 30, 2010, the New 
Israeli Shekel devalued against the Canadian Dollar and the US Dollar by 2.4% and 2.6%, respectively. 
The New Israeli Shekel appreciated against the Euro by 12.6%. As to the effect of exchange rates on 
the Company’s equity, refer to the linkage bases report as of June 30, 2010, attached as Appendix A to 
the Board of Directors’ report. In addition, from June 30, 2010 until shortly before the date of approval 
of this report, the New Israeli Shekel appreciated against the US Dollar and the Canadian Dollar by 
2.1% and 1.3%, respectively, and devalued against the Euro by 1.8%. 

	 In addition, some of the Company’s liabilities are linked to changes in the Israeli consumer price 
index (with respect to operations in Israel). From January 1, 2010 through June 30, 2010, the (known) 
consumer price index rose by 0.4%. As to the effect of changes in the consumer price index on the 
equity of the Company, refer to the linkage bases report as of June 30, 2010, attached as Appendix 
A to the Board of Directors’ report. Furthermore, from June 30, 2010 until shortly before the date of 
approval of this report, the (known) consumer price index rose by 0.8%. 

	 During the period from January 1, 2010 through the date of approval of the financial statements, the 
individuals responsible for managing and reporting the Company’s market risks (the Company’s President 
and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer) have held and continue to hold frequent discussions on the 
exposure to market risks, including changes in exchange rates and interest rates, and the Company’s 
management discusses the issue on a weekly basis. The Company’s Board of Directors discussed 
the aforesaid risks and the Company’s policy regarding such risks during the meetings at which the 
financial statements to December 31, 2009, March 31, 2010 and June 30, 2010 were approved. 
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	 As in the past, it has been the Group’s policy in the aforesaid period to maintain as close an economic 
correlation as possible between the currency in which properties are acquired and the currency in 
which the liabilities to finance the acquisition of those properties are taken out (on a proportionate 
consolidation basis), with an intent to hold its equity in the currencies of the various markets in which 
it is active, and in the same proportions as the assets in each such currency bear to the total assets, 
while making occasional transactions to minimize the said exposure to changes in exchange rates. 

	 As of June 30, 2010, the economic exposure of the Company’s equity (NIS 5.2 billion) to the various 
currencies is distributed as follows: 

4.	 Corporate Governance Aspects
4.1	 Donations
	 The Company customarily makes donations to charities and to projects for community welfare and 

education in the various countries in which it operates. Within the framework of this activity the Company 
has pledged to support a number of agencies through a perennial donation framework, as follows:

A.	 The Company makes donations to Tel Aviv University, which operates an institute focusing 
on research and studies of all manner of real estate-related topics (The Chaim Katzman – 
Gazit-Globe Real Estate Institute). The Company has pledged to make an annual donation of 
USD 150,000 for a period of 7 years (commenced in 2005). 

B.	 The Company donates to the “College for All” charity – a not-for-profit organization working 
to close the gaps in education by means of creating equal opportunities. The organization 
strives to realize its vision of excellence through the provision of learning and other tools to 
students with ability and motivation, who come from underprivileged neighborhoods. The goal 
is to encourage such students to embark on academic studies. Within the framework of the 
activities of this organization, the Company has pledged to provide assistance to a group of 
students for a period of 5 years (commenced in 2005). 

C.	 The Company has adopted a battalion of front-line conscripts within the framework of the 
“Adopt a Front-Line Soldier” Project. Within the framework of this project, the Company has 
pledged to make an annual donation of NIS 100,000 for 3 years (commenced in 2007). 

	 In addition, the Group makes donations to numerous other bodies. 

	 During the reporting period, the Group’s donations amounted to NIS 2,346 thousand. 

USD 
≤∏•

NIS 
≤•

EUR
≥∑•

CAD
 ≥≥•



DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON THE STATE OF THE COMPANY’S AFFAIRS 

   GAZIT-GLOBE • Q2 2010 | 35

4.2	 Disclosure Regarding the Financial Statements’ Approval Process 
	 As resolved by the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company’s Audit and Balance Sheet Committee is 

responsible for oversight in the Company. As part of this role, the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee 
discusses, inter alia, the Company’s financial statements, including audit topics relating to oversight, 
and presents its recommendations to the Board of Directors. The members of the Audit and Balance 
Sheet Committee are Messrs. Yair Orgler (the Chairman of the Committee), Noga Knaz, Chaim Ben-
Dor and Eliahu Shahar. 

	 Within the framework of the process of the Company’s financial statements being approved by the 
Board of Directors and their being discussed by the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee, a draft of the 
financial statements, and a draft of the other parts of the quarterly report too, as well as a draft of the 
presentation reviewing the operations in the reporting period, are sent for the perusal of the members 
of the Board several days before the date of the meeting of the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee 
and the meeting of the Board of Directors. 

	 During the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee’s meeting and during the Board of Directors’ meeting, 
the CFO, Mr. Gadi Cunia, provides a review of the Company’s financial position, its operating results and 
its cash flows, and presents data concerning the Company’s activities and their comparison with prior 
periods. A discussion takes place during which the Company’s management (including the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, the Executive Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President of the 
Company and the CFO of the Company) reviews the major financial reporting issues that have arisen 
in the course of preparing the financial statements, including a review of transactions, if any, not 
within the normal course of business, the significant assessments and critical estimates used in the 
financial statements, the accounting policies applied and the changes thereto, if any, and the possible 
effect on the financial statements of significant risks and exposures; management also responds to 
questions from the directors. The Company’s independent auditors are present at meetings of the 
Audit and Balance Sheet Committee and of the Board of Directors at which the financial statements 
are discussed and approved in order to both respond to questions, if any, raised in connection with the 
financial statements, and also to bring up other matters that they wish to place before the Committee 
or the Board. The Audit and Balance Sheet Committee draws up its recommendations with regard to 
the approval of the financial statements and these are presented to the Board of Directors. Following 
the aforementioned discussion, a vote is taken to approve the financial statements. 

	 The meeting of the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee that discussed the financial statements was 
held on August 19, 2010, with all the members of the Committee, as detailed above, as well as the 
director Shay Pilpel, being present. At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on August 22, 2010, 
at which said financial statements were approved, all members of the Board of Directors serving on 
the date of approval of the Periodic Report were present, except of Mr. Pilpel (for the names of the 
members of the Board of Directors and their other particulars, refer to the Immediate Report dated 
April 8, 2010, “Status of Senior Officers”, reference number 2010-01-442437; the information contained 
in the aforesaid Immediate Report is hereby presented by means of this reference). Among others, the 
Company’s President, its CFO and representatives of the independent auditors, as referred to above, 
were also present. 
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4.3	 The Company’s Preparations for Reporting Regarding the Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting and Disclosure 

	 In December 2009, the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports) (Amendment), 2009 
(“the Regulations”) with regard to assessing the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 
and disclosure, were published. During the reporting period, the Company continued to implement the 
preparations plan for the requirements of the Regulations, as formulated by the Company’s management 
and approved by the Board of Directors. 

	 To the date of approval of the financial statements and further to the actions taken by the Company, 
as described in section 4.6 of the Board of Directors’ Report for 2009, the Company has taken the 
following actions: 

•	 Assessment of the risks within the framework of the most significant financial reporting 
processes, while also documenting these processes, the risks inherent therein with respect 
to the financial reporting and disclosure, and the Company’s existing internal controls that 
provide an answer to such risks. 

•	 Analysis of the existing gaps in the planning for the internal control over the financial reporting 
and disclosure. 

•	 Within the framework of the gaps analysis, the Company assessed the severity of the weaknesses 
in the control planning and determined the manner and the timing for closing these gaps. 

•	 The Company is preparing to continue the process and to conduct effectiveness testing, as 
required by the provisions of the Regulations. 

5.	 Disclosure Regarding the Financial Reporting of the Company 
5.1	 Additional Information and Subsequent Events

A.	 For details regarding the Company’s public offering of debentures (series I), by means of extending 
the series, in an amount of NIS 497 million, refer to note 4.a of the financial statements. 

B.	 For details regarding debenture offerings by FCR, refer to note 4.b of the financial statements.

C.	 For details regarding a rights offering by GAA, refer to note 4.c of the financial statements.

5.2	 Critical Accounting Estimates
	 In the course of preparing the financial statements, the Group’s management is required to make 

estimates and assessments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 

	 Management bases its estimates and assessments, including those prepared by independent external 
professional parties (e.g., appraisers and assessors), on past experience and other factors that, in its 
opinion, are relevant taking the particular circumstances into account. Actual results could differ from 
these assessments under different assumptions or conditions. 

	 In the reporting period, no changes occurred in the critical estimates which have the potential to 
materially affect the financial statements, apart from the valuation of derivatives. 

6.	 Disclosure Regarding Fair Value of Investment Property
	 During the reporting period, no material changes took place in the fair value of investment property, in 

accordance with the definition of these terms in the February 2009 guidelines of the Israel Securities 
Authority dealing with disclosure regarding the fair value of investment property assets. 
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7.	 Update to Details Concerning the Corporation’s Publicly-Held Commitment Certificates
A.	 In February 2010, the Company completed a private offering to institutional investors of NIS 177.5 

million par value of debentures (series D), by means of extending the series, for a consideration 
amounting to NIS 200 million.

B.	 In July 2010, the Company completed a public offering of NIS 431 million par value of debentures 
(series I) , by means of extending the series through a shelf offer, for a net consideration 
amounting to NIS 497 million. 

C.	 1.	� On April 12, 2010, Midroog announced that the A1 rating on all series of the Company’s 
debentures in circulation had been reconfirmed and that the outlook had been raised 
from Negative to Stable. 

	 2.	� On July 1, 2010, S&P Maalot announced that the A+ rating on all series of the Company’s 
debentures in circulation had been reconfirmed and that the outlook had been raised 
from Negative to Stable. 

D.	 On October 29, 2009, the Company received a notification from Union Bank Trust Company 
Ltd. (“Union”), in which Union gave notice that it was resigning from its position as trustee for 
the holders of the Company’s debentures (series B), this being in accordance with the trust 
deed dated May 16, 2004 and Section 35N(b) of the Securities Law, 1968. In February 2010, the 
general meeting of debenture holders (series B) approved the appointment of Clal Finance Trust 
Services 2007 Ltd. (“Clal”) as the replacement trustee for the debentures (series B). On April 
13, 2010, the Tel Aviv District Court issued a ruling, pursuant to which it gave its approval to the 
appointment of Clal as the trustee of the debentures (series B), in place of Union. On May 16, 2010, 
an amendment to the trust deed was signed and, with effect from July 9, 2010, Clal has taken 
the place of Union, for all intents and purposes, in relation to the latter’s role as trustee for the 
holders of the Company’s debentures (series B), in accordance with the trust deed. Particulars 
of the new trustee are as follows: Clal Finance Trust Services 2007 Ltd., 37 Menachem Begin 
Road, Tel Aviv, Tel: 03-6274827, Fax: 03-6274849, e-mail: YanivG2@clal-fin.co.il.

E.	 Collateral for debentures (series J) 

	 The Company’s commitments pursuant to the debentures (series J) are secured by a fixed, first-
ranking charge on the rights relating to properties, as detailed in the Company’s immediate 
report from January 18, 2009 (reference no. 2009-01-016440) (“the preliminary report”) and in 
the shelf offer report from February 19, 2009 (reference no. 2009-01-040392) (“the shelf offer 
report”; the information contained in the preliminary report and in the shelf offer report is hereby 
presented by means of this reference). No material changes have occurred in the value of the 
pledged properties as of June 30, 2010, compared to their value as presented in the Company’s 
financial statements to March 31, 2010. Furthermore, no material changes have occurred in 
the value of the pledged properties as of March 31, 2010 compared to their value in the Periodic 
Report for 2009; the only exception to the aforesaid is in relation to the pledged property known 
as “G Cinema”, which was presented in the Company’s financial statements to March 31, 2010 in 
an amount of NIS 320 million, compared to NIS 257 million in the Periodic Report for 2009. For 
the valuation of G Cinema as of March 31, 2010, refer to the Company’s financial statements for 
the first quarter of 2010 that were published on May 24, 2010 (reference no. 2010-01-490291).

 

August 22, 2010

Date of Approval Chaim Katzman Aharon Soffer

of Board of Directors’ Report Chairman of the Board of Directors President 
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Appendix A to the Board of Directors’ Report 
Linkage Bases Report

As of June 30, 2010

Linked 
tobthe 

consumer 
price 
index

In USD 
or 

linked 
thereto

In CAD 
or 

linked 
thereto

In EUR 
or linked 

thereto

In non-
index- 
linked 

NIS

Other-
currencies

Unlinked Total

NIS in millions

Monetary assets

Cash and cash equivalents -  180  180  537  160  125  -  1,182 

Short-term loans and investments 7  44  67  102  42  49  -  311 

Trade receivables, accrued income and other 
accounts receivable 126  92  38  40  51  101  260  708 

Long-term investments, loans and receivables 11  37  52  -  -  -  52  152 

Available-for-sale securities -  -  -  -  -  -  191  191 

Long-term derivatives -  -  -  -  -  -  948  948 

Deferred taxes -  -  -  -  -  -  75  75 

144  353  337  679  253  275  1,526  3,567 

Non-monetary assets1 -  12,238  16,602  11,489  2,195  4,103  614  47,241 

Total assets 144  12,591  16,939  12,168  2,448  4,378  2,140  50,808 

Monetary liabilities

Credit from banks and others 32  -  56  275  44  1  -  408 

Trade and other payables and other credit 
balances 46  269  402  290  370  71  61  1,509 

Advances from customers and buyers of 
apartments -  -  -  -  -  -  62  62 

Debentures 5,616 2 2,960  3,564  729  1,995 3 -  -  14,864 

Debentures convertible into shares of investees 19  -  661  175  -  -  -  855 

Interest-bearing liabilities to financial 
institutions and others 50  3,682  5,236  5,474  208  2,608  -  17,258 

Long-term derivatives -  -  -  -  -  -  307  307 

Other financial liabilities 15  50  69  42  -  37  -  213 

Employee benefit liabilities -  2  -  -  2  -  -  4 

Deferred taxes -  -  -  -  -  -  1,708  1,708 

Total liabilities 5,778  6,963  9,988  6,985  2,619  2,717  2,138  37,188 

Assets, net of liabilities (5,634) 5,628  6,951  5,183  (171) 1,661  2  13,620 

1	 Mainly investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets. 
2	 Of the total of NIS 5,616 million, the Company has linkage basis swap transactions on an amount of NIS 2,199 million. 
3	 Of the total of NIS 1,995 million, the Company has linkage basis swap transactions on an amount of NIS 1,883 million. 
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UPDATE TO THE DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS FOR THE 
2009 PERIODIC REPORT OF GAZIT-GLOBE LTD. (“the Company”)
Pursuant to Regulation 39A of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970, details are 
presented below concerning material changes and developments that have taken place in the Company’s business 
since the publication of the Company’s Periodic Report for 2009 (“the Periodic Report”), for each matter that has 
to be described in the Periodic Report. 

Update to Section 3 – Dividend distributions in the last two years 
A.	 On April 12, 2010, the Company distributed a dividend to its equity holders in the amount of 

NIS 51,370 thousand. 

B.	 On July 1, 2010, the Company distributed a dividend to its equity holders in the amount of 
NIS 51,375 thousand. 

C.	 For details regarding the dividend declared by the Company subsequent to reporting date, refer 
to note 4.d of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 6 – Acquisition, development and management of shopping centers in the U.S.A. 
A.	 For details regarding the closing of EQY’s purchase offer for DIM shares and EQY’s intention to act 

in making a forced purchase of the remaining DIM shares held by the public, refer to note 3.f of the 
financial statements. 

B.	 For details regarding an agreement entered into by EQY in May 2010 for the acquisition of Capital and 
Counties USA (“C&C USA”) by means of a joint venture between EQY and the parent company of C&C 
USA, refer to note 3.o of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 7 – Acquisition, development and management of shopping centers in Canada 
A.	 For details regarding the public offering made by FCR in Canada of CAD 125 million par value of 

unsecured debentures (series I), which bear annual interest at the rate of 5.70%, refer to note 3.k of 
the financial statements. 

B.	 For details regarding the split of FCR’s ordinary shares in May 2010 in the ratio of 3.2 ordinary shares 
for every 2 ordinary shares held, refer to note 3.l of the financial statements. 

C.	 For details regarding the public offering made by FCR in Canada of 3,485 thousand ordinary shares 
for a gross consideration of CAD 50 million, and the participation of a subsidiary wholly owned by the 
Company in this offering, refer to note 3.m of the financial statements. 

D.	 For details regarding the public offering made by FCR in Canada of CAD 50 million par value of unsecured 
debentures (series J), which bear annual interest at the fixed rate of 5.25%, and FCR’s agreement with 
underwriters for the public offering in Canada of CAD 50 million par value of unsecured debentures (series 
K), which bear annual interest at the fixed rate of 4.95%, refer to note 4.b of the financial statements. 

E.	 For details regarding the exercise of 402 thousand FCR options into 402 thousand FCR shares by one 
of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries in March 2010, refer to note 3 of the financial statements.
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Update to Section 9 – Acquisition, development and management of shopping centers in Central and 
Eastern Europe 
For details regarding the closing of ATR’s purchase offer for EUR 233.8 million par value of its debentures (series 
2006) for a consideration of NIS 231.8 million, refer to note 3.d of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 10 – Entrepreneurship, development, management and construction of real estate projects 

For details regarding publication of a prospectus for the completion of its initial public offering (IPO) on the Tel 
Aviv Stock Exchange, on February 26, 2010, by U. Dori Construction Ltd., and the public offering of 7 million shares 
and 2.3 million stock options, on March 14, 2010, refer to note 3.i of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 11.4 – GAA 
For details regarding GAA’s announcement in August 2010 of a rights issue for the acquisition of 2.57 million units, 
each of which consists of one ordinary share and an option to acquire one ordinary share, at a price of CAD 5 
per unit, and the Company’s commitment, through wholly owned subsidiaries, to exercise all the rights granted 
it and to acquire all the units that other shareholders do not acquire within the framework of the issue, refer to 
note 4.c of the financial statements. 

Update to Section 15 – Human capital 
For details regarding the grant of 50 thousand options for an officer of the Company, refer to note 3.h of the 
financial statements. 

Update to Section 17 - Financing
A.	 On April 12, 2010, Midroog announced that the A1 rating on all series of the Company’s debentures in 

circulation had been reconfirmed and that the outlook had been raised from Negative to Stable. 

B.	 On July 1, 2010, Midroog announced that the A+ rating on all series of the Company’s debentures in 
circulation had been reconfirmed and that the outlook had been raised from Negative to Stable. 

C.	 For details regarding the public offering of NIS 431 million par value of debentures (series I) for a net 
consideration of NIS 497 million, by means of extending the series through a shelf offer report that 
was published in July 2010 pursuant to a shelf prospectus from May 31, 2010, refer to note 4.a of the 
financial statements. 
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Update to Section 17.5 – Financial covenants 
During the second quarter of 2010 and subsequent to the reporting date, some of the financial covenants were 
revised within the framework of the Company and wholly owned subsidiaries having entered into updated financing 
agreements with several of the banks that provide them with credit facilities, such that the following covenants 
were added: 

A.	 The ratio of debt to the value of a consolidated subsidiary’s shares, which were given as collateral 
to secure the credit facility, shall not exceed 70%, with the value of the shares being calculated at 
the average of their stock exchange value and their net asset value (NAV), as per the accounts of the 
consolidated subsidiary. 

B.	 The Company’s average quarterly EPRA Direct Result, over any two consecutive quarters, shall not be 
less than NIS 60 million. 

C.	 The ratio of CTY’s equity (including equity loans, but excluding minority interests, the fair value of 
derivatives and the tax effect thereof) to CTY’s total assets shall not be less than 30%. 

D.	 The ratio of CTY’s EBITDA (with certain adjustments) to CTY’s net financial expenses shall not be less 
than 1.6. 

E.	 The ratio of FCR’s net financial debt, with the addition of the leverage that is reflected by the amount 
of bank credit utilized out of the total credit facility, to FCR’s EBITDA shall not exceed 14.2. 

F.	 The ratio of FCR’s EBITDA to FCR’s financial expenses shall not be less than 1.55. 

G.	 The ratio of FCR’s net financial debt, with the addition of the leverage that is reflected by the amount 
of credit utilized out of the total credit facility, to FCR’s total equity, deferred taxes and net financial 
debt shall not exceed 82%. 

H.	 The percentage of shares pledged shall not be less than the percentage that constitutes effective 
control over the consolidated subsidiary. 

Update to Section 22 – Legal proceedings 
On August 11, 2010, ATR announced that it intends to file a claim for damages caused to it with regard to actions 
relating to its former management (prior to the acquisition of the holdings in ATR by the Company).  The Company 
is not involved in the legal proceedings, since the claim does not relate to the Company but to ATR itself. 
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

Auditors’ review report to the shareholders of Gazit-Globe Ltd.

Introduction
We have reviewed the accompanying financial information of Gazit-Globe Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), 
which comprises the condensed consolidated statement of financial position as of June 30, 2010 and the related 
condensed consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the six and three months then ended. The Company’s board of directors and management are responsible for 
the preparation and presentation of interim financial information for this interim period in accordance with IAS 
34, “Interim Financial Reporting” and are responsible for the preparation of this interim financial information in 
accordance with Chapter D of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970. Our responsibility 
is to express a conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review.

We did not review the condensed interim financial information of certain subsidiaries, whose assets constitute 
approximately 44% of total consolidated assets as of June 30, 2010, and whose revenues constitute approximately 
40% of total consolidated revenues for the six and three months then ended, respectively. Furthermore, we did not 
review the condensed interim financial information of companies accounted for at equity, the investment in which 
amounted to NIS 45 million as of June 30, 2010, and the Group’s share in whose losses amounted to NIS 1 million 
for the six and three months then ended. The condensed interim financial information of those companies was 
reviewed by other auditors, whose review reports have been furnished to us, and our conclusion, insofar as it relates 
to the financial information in respect of those companies, is based on the review reports of the other auditors.

Scope of review
We conducted our review in accordance with Review Standard 1 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
in Israel, “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity.” A review 
of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and 
accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope 
than an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel and consequently does 
not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified 
in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion
Based on our review and the review reports of other auditors, nothing has come to our attention that causes 
us to believe that the accompanying interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in 
accordance with IAS 34.

In addition to the abovementioned, based on our review and the review reports of other auditors, nothing has come 
to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying interim financial information does not comply, 
in all material respects, with the disclosure requirements of Chapter D of the Securities Regulations (Periodic 
and Immediate Reports), 1970.

Tel-Aviv, Israel KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER

August 22, 2010  A Member of Ernst & Young Global
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As of June 30 As of December 31

2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,182 906 2,018

Short-term investments and loans 311 92 265

Available-for-sale securities 35 354 160

Trade and unbilled receivables 286 254 273

Other accounts receivable 401 344 340

Inventory of buildings and apartments for sale 347 428 419

Current taxes receivable 21 12 27

2,583 2,390 3,502

Assets held for sale 108 31 748

2,691 2,421 4,250

Non-Current Assets

Investments in associates 45 1,419 45

Investment in debt component of convertible debentures - 898 -

Share options and conversion component of debentures - 134 -

Investments, loans and receivables 152 75 142

Available-for-sale securities 156 285 148

Financial derivatives 948 642 699

Investment property 42,689 39,211 42,174

Investment property under development 3,155 2,289 2,994

Inventories of land for construction 31 17 17

Fixed assets 675 739 715

Goodwill 172 195 178

Other intangible assets 19 31 21

Deferred taxes 75 124 121

48,117 46,059 47,254

50,808 48,480 51,504

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As of June 30 As of December 31

2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Current Liabilities

Credit from banks and others 408 169 609

Current maturities of non-current liabilities 1,948 1,884 1,999

Trade payables 466 433 603

Advances from customers and apartment buyers 62 111 92

Current taxes payable 43 34 27

Other accounts payable 949 690 869

Dividends declared 51 47 50

3,927 3,368 4,249

Non-Current Liabilities

Debentures 14,122 10,842 13,862

Debentures convertible into shares of investees 846 395 879

Interest-bearing liabilities to financial institutions and others 16,061 19,357 17,162

Financial derivatives 307 272 241

Other financial liabilities 213 113 156

Employee benefit liabilities 4 11 5

Deferred taxes 1,708 1,819 1,684

33,261 32,809 33,989

Equity Attributable to Company Shareholders

Share capital 192 184 192

Share premium 2,852 2,569 2,848

Retained earnings 3,034 1,919 2,751

Adjustments from translation of financial statements (948) (702) (600)

Other capital reserves 82 (21) 23

Loans to purchase shares (4) (4) (4)

Treasury shares (21) (21) (21)

5,187 3,924 5,189

Non-controlling interests 8,433 8,379 8,077

Total equity 13,620 12,303 13,266

50,808 48,480 51,504

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

August 22, 2010

Approval Date of Financial 
Statements

Chaim Katzman
Chairman of the Board

Aharon Soffer
President

Gadi Cunia
CFO
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months Ending 
June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions  (With the Exception of Net Earnings (Loss) Data Per Share)

Property rental income 2,274 2,028 1,136 1,027 4,084

Revenues from sale of buildings, land and contractual works 
performed 331 258 175 137 596

Total revenues 2,605 2,286 1,311 1,164 4,680

Rental property operating expenses 790 682 382 340 1,369

Cost of sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed 306 235 161 122 554

Total cost of revenues 1,096 917 543 462 1,923

Gross profit 1,509 1,369 768 702 2,757

Increase (decrease) in value of investment property and 
investment property under development, net

158 (682) 204 (517) (1,922)

General and administrative expenses (322) (271) (159) (118) (584)

Other income 22 484 *)    - 51 777

Other expenses (4) (19) (3) (10) (41)

Company's share in losses of associates, net (1) (154) (1) (58) (268)

Operating income 1,362 727 809 50 719

Financial expenses (879) (856) (510) (373) (1,793)

Financial income 357 275 141 104 1,551

Increase (decrease) in value of investments - (41) - (13) 81

Income (loss) before taxes on income 840 105 440 (232) 558

Taxes on income 181 26 98 (33) (142)

Net income (loss) 659 79 342 (199) 700

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 367 173 149 (94) 1,101

Non-controlling interests 292 (94) 193 (105) (401)

659 79 342 (199) 700

Net earnings (loss) per share attributable to equity holders of 
the Company (in NIS): 

Basic net earnings (loss) 2.64 1.37 1.08 (0.75) 8.49

Diluted net earnings (loss) 2.62 1.37 1.07 (0.75) 8.47

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months 
Ending June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions 

Net income (loss) 659 79 342 (199) 700

Other comprehensive income (loss) (after tax effect):

Adjustments from translation of financial statements of foreign 
operations (516) 917 (40) (229) 1,022

Fair value adjustments of cash flow hedges, net (14) (66) 11 50 (51)

Fair value adjustments of available-for-sale financial assets, net 16 52 17 40 45

Fair value adjustments of revaluation of fixed assets 4 (3) 5 (11) (8)

Fair value adjustments of initially consolidated investment, net - 22 - - 22

Group's share in other comprehensive income (loss), net of associates - (10) - 5 (8)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) (510) 912 (7) (145) 1,022

Total comprehensive income (loss) 149 991 335 (344) 1,722

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 35 561 116 (150) 1,606

Non-controlling interests *) 114 430 219 (194) 116

149 991 335 (344) 1,722

*)	 Composition of the comprehensive income (loss) of non-controlling interests:

Net income (loss) attributed to non-controlling interests 292 (94) 193 (105) (401)

Adjustments deriving from the translation of financial statements (169) 469 18 (139) 473

Fair value adjustments of cash flow hedges (10) (4) (11) 19 5

Fair value adjustments of available-for-sale financial assets, net 1 41 19 31 21

Fair value adjustments of initially consolidated investment - 18 - - 18

114 430 219 (194) 116

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity Attributable to Company Shareholders 

Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Adjustments 
from 

Translation 
of Financial 
Statements 

Other 
Capital 

Reserves 

Less 
Loans to 

Purchase 
Shares

Treasury 
Shares

Total Non-
controlling 

Interests

Total 
Equity

Unaudited

NIS in millions 

Balance as of January 1, 
2010 (Audited)   192 2,848 2,751 (600) 23 (4) (21) 5,189 8,077 13,266

Total comprehensive 
income (loss) - - 367 (348) 16 - - 35 114 149

Exercise of stock options 
into Company shares *)   - 4 - - (3) - - 1 - 1

Revaluation of loans to 
purchase shares - - *)   - -     - *)   - - - - -

Repayment of loans to 
purchase shares - - - - - *)   - - *)   - - *)   -

Realization of fixed asset 
revaluation reserve and 
initially consolidated 
investment revaluation 
reserve - - 19 - (19) - - - - -

Cost of share-based 
payment - - - - 7 - - 7 6 13

Dividend declared - - (103) - - - - (103) - (103)

Issue of capital to non-
controlling interests - - - *)  - 61 - - 61 590 651

Purchase of shares from 
non-controlling interests - - - - (3) - - (3) (66) (69)

Purchase of convertible 
debentures in 
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (4) (4)

Dividend to non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - (284) (284)

Balance as of  
June 30, 2010 192 2,852 3,034 (948) 82 (4) (21) 5,187 8,433 13,620

*‎)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity Attributable to Company Shareholders 

Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Adjustments 
from 

Translation 
of Financial 
Statements 

Other 
Capital 

Reserves 

Less 
Loans to 

Purchase 
Shares

Treasury 
Shares

Total Non-
controlling 

Interests

Total 
Equity

Unaudited

NIS in millions

Balance as of January 1, 2009 
(Audited) 179 2,465 1,827 (1,141) 29 (4) (21) 3,334 7,772 11,106

Total comprehensive income 
(loss) - - 173 439 (51) - - 561 430 991

Share issuance net of issue 
expenses 5 103 - - - - - 108 - 108

Exercise of stock options into 
Company shares *)  - 1 - - *)  - - - 1 - 1

Revaluation of loans to 
purchase shares - - *)  - - - *)  - - - - -

Repayment of loans to 
purchase shares - - - - - *)  - - *)  - - *)  -

Realization of fixed asset 
revaluation reserve - - 1 - (1) - - - - -

Revaluation of initially 
consolidated investment - - 8 - - - - 8 35 43

Cost of share-based payment - - - - 2 - - 2 5 7

Dividend declared - - (90) - - - - (90) - (90)

Issue of capital to non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - 553 553

Purchase of shares from non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - (207) (207)

Purchase of convertible 
debentures in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (14) (14)

Non-controlling interests in 
company consolidated for the 
first time - - - - - - - - 130 130

Expiration of stock options in 
subsidiary - - - - - - - - (1) (1)

Buy-back of shares in 
subsidiary - - - - - - - - (29) (29)

Dividend to non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - - (295) (295)

Balance as of June 30, 2009 184 2,569 1,919 (702) (21) (4) (21) 3,924 8,379 12,303

*‎)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity Attributable to Company Shareholders 

Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Adjustments 
from 

Translation 
of Financial 
Statements 

Other 
Capital 

Reserves 

Less 
Loans to 

Purchase 
Shares

Treasury 
Shares

Total Non-
controlling 

Interests

Total 
Equity

Unaudited

NIS in millions

Balance as of  
April 1, 2010 192 2,852 2,919 (889) 54 (4) (21) 5,103 8,138 13,241

Total comprehensive 
income (loss) - - 149 (59) 26 - - 116 219 335

Exercise of stock options 
into Company shares *)  - *)  - - -   *)  - - - *)  - - *)  -

Revaluation of loans to 
purchase shares - - *)  - - - *)  - - - - -

Repayment of loans to 
purchase shares - - - - - *)  - - *)  - - *)  -

Realization of fixed asset 
revaluation reserve and 
initially consolidated 
investment revaluation 
reserve - - 18 - (18) - - - - -

Cost of share-based 
payment - - - - 4 - - 4 1 5

Dividend declared - - (52) - - - - (52) - (52)

Issue of capital to non-
controlling interests - - - *)  - 17 - - 17 185 202

Purchase of shares from 
non-controlling interests - - - - (1) - - (1) (7) (8)

Purchase of convertible 
debentures in 
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (2) (2)

Dividend to non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - (101) (101)

Balance as of  
June 30, 2010 192 2,852 3,034 (948) 82 (4) (21) 5,187 8,433 13,620

*‎)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity Attributable to Company Shareholders 

Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Adjustments 
from 

Translation 
of Financial 
Statements 

Other 
Capital 

Reserves 

Less 
Loans to 

Purchase 
Shares

Treasury 
Shares

Total Non-
controlling 

Interests

Total 
Equity

Unaudited

NIS in millions

Balance as of  
April 1, 2009 179 2,465 2,059 (618) (49) (4) (21) 4,011 8,333 12,344

Total comprehensive 
income (loss) - - (94) (84) 28 - - (150) (194) (344)

Stock issue 5 103 - - - - - 108 - 108

Exercise of stock 
options into Company 
shares *)  - 1 - - *)  - - - 1 - 1

Revaluation of loans 
to purchase shares - - *)  - - - *)  - - - - -

Repayment of loans to 
purchase shares - - - - - *)  - - *)  - - *)  -

Realization of fixed 
asset revaluation 
reserve - - 1 - (1) - - - - -

Cost of share-based 
payment - - - - 1 - - 1 3 4

Dividend declared - - (47) - - - - (47) - (47)

Issue of capital to 
non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - - 372 372

Purchase of shares 
from non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - - (12) (12)

Purchase of 
convertible 
debentures in 
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (8) (8)

Dividend to non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - (115) (115)

Balance as of  
June 30, 2009 184 2,569 1,919 (702) (21) (4) (21) 3,924 8,379 12,303

*‎)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity Attributable to Company Shareholders 

Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Retained 
Earnings

Adjustments 
from 

Translation 
of Financial 
Statements 

Other 
Capital 

Reserves

Less 
Loans to 

Purchase 
Shares

Treasury 
Shares

Total Non-
controlling 

Interests

Total 
Equity

Audited

NIS in millions

Balance as of January 1, 2009 179 2,465 1,827 (1,141) 29 (4) (21) 3,334 7,772 11,106

Total comprehensive income (loss) - - 1,101 541 (36) - - 1,606 116 1,722

Share issuance net of issue 
expenses 13 378 - - - - - 391 - 391

Exercise of stock options into 
Company shares *)  - 5 - - (5) - - *)  - - *)  -

Revaluation of loans to purchase 
shares - - *)  - - - *)  - - - - -

Repayment of loans to purchase 
shares - - - - - *)  - - *)  - - *)  -

Waiver of salary by controlling 
shareholder, net - - - - 32 - - 32 - 32

Realization of fixed asset 
revaluation reserve - - 1 - (1) - - - - -

Revaluation of initially consolidated 
investment - - 8 - - - - 8 35 43

Cost of share-based payment - - - - 4 - - 4 13 17

Dividend declared - - (186) - - - - (186) - (186)

Issue of capital to non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - - 731 731

Purchase of shares from non-
controlling interests - - - - - - - - (218) (218)

Purchase of convertible debentures 
in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (14) (14)

Non-controlling interests in initially 
consolidated company - - - - - - - - 150 150

Issue of convertible debentures and 
stock options in subsidiary - - - - - - - - 20 20

Expiration of stock options in 
subsidiary - - - - - - - - (1) (1)

Buy-back of shares in subsidiary - - - - - - - - (29) (29)

Dividend in kind to non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - - 155 155

Dividend to non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - - - (653) (653)

Balance as of  
December 31, 2009 192 2,848 2,751 (600) 23 (4) (21) 5,189 8,077 13,266

*‎)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months Ending 
June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 (* 2010 2009 (* 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss) 659 79 342 (199) 700

Adjustments required to present cash flows provided by operating activities:

Adjustments to the profit or loss items:

Financial expenses, net 522 581 369 269 242

Company's share in losses of associates, net 1 154 1 58 268

Decrease (increase) in fair value of investment property and investment 
property under development, net

(158) 682 (204) 517 1,922

Depreciation and amortization of fixed and intangible assets (including 
impairment of goodwill)

18 36 8 20 75

Taxes on income 181 26 98 (33) (142)

Revaluation of conversion component and stock options to fair value, net - 38 - 13 (84)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets - 3 - - 3

Capital loss (gain), net (18) **)   - (1) 2 3

Change in employee benefit liabilities, net (1) 6 (1) 7 1

Loss (gain) from dilution of holding rate in investees, net 4 (1) 4 7 1

Gain from increase in holding rate in investees - (479) - (62) (775)

Cost of share-based payment 13 7 5 4 17

562 1,053 279 802 1,531

Changes in asset and liability items:

Decrease (increase) in trade and unbilled receivables and other accounts 
receivable

(180) 11 (104) 91 95

Decrease (increase) in inventories of buildings and land for sale less 
advances from customers and apartment buyers, net

36 (1) 20 8 31

Increase (decrease) in trade and other accounts payable 46 (10) 61 (8) (43)

Increase in tenants' security deposits, net 7 **)   - 5 3 3

(91) - (18) 94 86

Net cash provided by operating activities (before financing and taxes) 1,130 1,132 603 697 2,317

Cash received / paid during the period for:

Interest paid (939) (861) (491) (418) (1,535)

Interest received 130 193 102 139 191

Taxes paid (38) (30) (19) (24) (69)

Taxes received - **)   - - **)   - 3

Dividend received 2 14 2 11 19

(845) (684) (406) (292) (1,391)

Net cash provided by operating activities 285 448 197 405 926

*)	 Reclassified, see Note 2e.

**‎)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.
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For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months Ending 
June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investment in initially consolidated company previously presented as 
available-for-sale security (a) - 8 - - 8

Initial proportionate consolidation of company previously included at 
equity (b) - - - - 1,262

Investment in shares of investees - **)  (61) - **)  (26) **)  (166)

Acquisition, construction, development and redevelopment of investment 
property (1,862) (1,067) (952) (599) (2,706)

Investments in fixed assets (4) (40) (1) (16) (72)

Proceeds from sale of investment property and investment property under 
development 846 45 131 21 95

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 49 *)  - 49 *)  - -

Grant of long-term loans (7) (16) (5) (15) (16)

Repayment of long-term loans granted 36 7 36 5 8

Short-term investments, net 32 *)  - 62 *)  - 19

Investment in available-for-sale financial assets (105) (74) (57) (1) (177)

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 229 711 133 2 1,068

Net cash used in investing activities (786) (487) (604) (629) (677)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Issue of shares less issue expenses - 108 - 108 391

Repayment of loans granted for purchase of Company shares *)  - *)  - *)  - *)  - *)  -

Exercise of stock options into Company shares 1 1 *)  - 1 *)  -

Issue of shares to non-controlling interests, net 585 478 185 371 647

Purchase of shares in subsidiaries (61) **)  (98) (8) **)   (10) **)  (103) 

Dividends paid to Company shareholders (101) (85) (51) (42) (179)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (265) (283) (177) (185) (468)

Receipt of long-term loans 444 3,067 154 1,641 4,278

Repayment of long-term loans (998) (1,660) (374) (949) (4,880)

Repayment of long-term credit facilities from banks, net (253) (294) (28) (136) (348)

Repayment and early redemption of debentures and convertible debentures (582) (1,146) (269) (931) (1,174)

Short-term bank credit, net (169) (129) 111 (18) (15)

Issue of debentures and convertible debentures, net 1,131 506 492 115 3,098

Repurchase of subsidiary's shares by a subsidiary - (22) - - (22)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (268) 443 35 (35) 1,225

Translation differences due to cash and cash equivalent balances (67) (33) (26) (54) 9

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (836) 371 (398) (313) 1,483

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2,018 535 1,580 1,219 535

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,182 906 1,182 906 2,018

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

**)	 Retroactive adjustment, see Note 2d.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
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For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months Ending 
June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

(a) Investment in initially consolidated company previously 
presented as an available for sale security:

The subsidiary's assets and liabilities at date of initial 
consolidation:

Working capital (excluding cash and cash equivalents):

Current assets - (18) - - (18)

Current liabilities - 261 - - 261

- 243 - - 243

Investment property and other non-current assets - (1,690) - - (1,690)

Outstanding investment previously presented - 241 - - 241

Non-current liabilities - 976 - - 976

Non-controlling interests in DIM - 130 - - 130

Issue of capital to non-controlling interests in EQY - 51 - - 51

Contingent issue of shares - 37 - - 37

Gain from increase in holding rate - 20 - - 20

- 8 - - 8

(b) Initial proportionate consolidation of company previously 
included at equity:

Assets and liabilities of subsidiary as of the date of initial 
proportionate consolidation:

Working capital (excluding cash and cash equivalents):

Current assets - - - - (255)

Current liabilities - - - - 194

- - - - (61)

Investment property - - - - (2,409)

Investment property under development - - - - (1,090)

Other non-current assets - - - - (60)

Non-current liabilities - - - - 1,068

Non-controlling interests - - - - 20

Investment presented at book value, in convertible debentures 
and in options - - - - 3,574

Gain from increase in holding rate - - - - 220

- - - - 1,262

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
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For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months Ending 
June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

(c) Significant non-cash transactions:

Conversion of debentures into subsidiary shares - 20 - - 20

Investment in associate's shares against 
repayment of convertible debentures - 206 - - 206

Exchange of convertible debentures and stock 
options and achievement of joint control - - - - 2,188

Purchase of investments against issue of shares in 
subsidiaries 37 126 - - 126

Distribution of dividend in kind in subsidiary - - - - 155

Dividend declared 51 47 51 47 50

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS



INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

   GAZIT-GLOBE • Q2 2010 | 63

NOTES TO INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: GENERAL
a.	 These Financial Statements have been prepared in a condensed format as of September 30, 2010 and 

for the nine and three months periods then ended (“Interim Consolidated Financial Statements”). These 
Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Annual Financial Statements 
as of December 31, 2009 and for the year then ended and the accompanying notes as featured in the 
Company’s shelf prospectus dated May 31, 2010 (“Annual Financial Statements”).

b.	 As of June 30, 2010, the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) have a working capital deficiency 
of NIS 1,236 million. The Group has unused approved lines of credit in the amount of NIS 4.5 billion 
that can be used over the coming year. In accordance with its policy, the Group finances its activities 
using revolving credit lines as interim financing, and raises capital and long-term debt from time to 
time based on market conditions, in lieu of the aforementioned revolving lines of credit. In addition, 
Company management acts to renew the lines of credit (guaranteed by liens) whose repayment date 
falls next year. Likewise, as of the balance sheet date, the Group has unencumbered investment property 
presented in the books at a fair value of NIS 25.7 billion. Company Management believes that these 
sources plus the positive cash flow from operating activities will allow each of the Group members to 
successfully repay their short-term liabilities.

NOTE 2:  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a.	 Basis of Preparation of Interim Consolidated Financial Statements:

	 The Company’s Interim Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices for the preparation of interim financial statements as set in 
IAS 34, “Interim Financial Reporting”, as well as in accordance with the disclosure instructions featured 
in Chapter D of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970.

	 The significant accounting policies and calculation methods applied in the preparation of the Interim 
Consolidated Financial Statements are consistent with those applied to the preparation of the Annual 
Financial Statements, with the exception of the below:

b.	 First-Time Application of New IFRS Standards:

	 IAS 17 - Leases
	 In accordance with the revision to IAS 17, the specific instruction regarding the manner of classification 

of land leases as operating or finance leases has been removed. Accordingly, it is no longer required to 
classify a land lease as operating lease whenever ownership is not expected to transfer to the lessee at 
the end of the lease term, but rather classification of the land lease should be reviewed in accordance 
with general guidelines listed in IAS 17, which refer to classification of a lease as an operating or 
finance lease on the signing date of the original agreement with the Israel Lands Administration (“the 
Administration”) with consideration given to the fact that land generally has an infinite useful life. 
Therefore, leasing of land from the Administration shall be tested by comparison between the current 
value of a sum charged as prepaid operating lease expenses to the fair value of the land, and when 
the sum in question materially reflects the fair value, the lease shall be classified as finance.

	 The revision has been in effect since January 1, 2010. The revision has no material impact on the 
Financial Statements.
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	 IFRS 3 (Revised) - Business Combinations and IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements

	 According to the new Standards:

-	 The definition of a business has been expanded in that it also includes activities and assets not 
managed as a business, so long as the seller is capable of operating them like a business.

-	 The choice can be made regarding each business combination separately whether to measure the 
non-controlling interests, and as a result goodwill, on the basis of full fair value or according to 
the relative purchased part of the fair value of the identified assets, net on the date of purchase. 

-	 A contingent consideration in a business combination will be measured at fair value and changes 
in the fair value of the contingent consideration, which do not represent adjustments to the 
acquisition cost in the measurement period, will not be simultaneously recognized as goodwill 
adjustment. In cases in which the contingent consideration is considered a financial derivative 
covered by IAS 39, it is measured at fair value with changes charged to profit and loss.

-	 Direct acquisition costs attributed to a business combination transaction will be recognized in 
the statement of income as incurred.

-	 Updates to the balance of a deferred tax asset due to temporary differences purchased which 
did not meet the recognition requirements upon purchase, shall be carried out in conjunction 
with profit and loss and not as a goodwill adjustment.

-	 A subsidiary’s losses, even if resulting in an equity deficit in a subsidiary, will be allocated between 
the parent company and non-controlling interests, even if the non-controlling interests have 
not guaranteed or have no contractual obligation of sustaining the subsidiary or of investing 
further amounts.

-	 On the loss or achievement of control of a subsidiary, the remaining holding in the subsidiary, 
if any, will be revalued to fair value against profit and loss from the sale and this fair value will 
represent the cost basis for the purpose of subsequent treatment. Sums rejected in the other 
comprehensive income are freed to profit and loss or are charged to surplus, as appropriate.

-	 Transactions with non-controlling interests, whether sale or purchase, are treated as capital 
transactions. Therefore, the purchase of non-controlling interests by the Group is listed against 
a reduction in capital (capital reserve from transaction with non-controlling interests) calculated 
as a difference between the proceeds paid by the Group and the sum of the purchased portion 
of the non-controlling interests subtracted on the date of purchase. When this difference is 
negative, the capital increase (capital reserve from transactions with non-controlling interests) 
is recognized to the amount of this difference. In realizing holdings in a subsidiary, without losing 
control, capital increases or decreases (capital reserve from transactions with non-controlling 
interests) are recognized to the level of the difference between the proceeds received at the 
Group and the balance in the Financial Statements of non-controlling interests in the subsidiary 
added to the Company’s capital, taking into account the reallocation of goodwill due to the 
subsidiary, if any, as well as capital reserves originating from other comprehensive income 
(loss), if any, according to the drop in holdings in the subsidiary.

-	 Upon purchase, all assets and liabilities are reclassified and redesignated according to contractual 
obligations, economic conditions and other relevant conditions existing on the date of purchase, 
with the exception of leases and insurance contracts.
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	 The Standards have been adopted on a prospective basis starting January 1, 2010. Application of the 
Standards will affect the accounting treatment of business combination transactions in the future and 
transactions with non-controlling interests.

	 IFRS 5 - Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
	 Pursuant to an amendment to IFRS 5, when the parent company decides to sell part of its holdings in 

a subsidiary whereby following the sale, the parent company will maintain a percentage of holding that 
does not confer control, for example, rights entitling to significant influence, all of that subsidiary’s 
assets and liabilities will be classified as held for sale when the criteria in IFRS 5 are met, including 
disclosures for discontinued operations. A further revision further clarifies the required disclosure 
with regard to non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held-for-sale or as discontinued 
operations. In accordance with the revision, only disclosures required by IFRS 5 need be provided. 
Disclosure requirements in other IFRS Standards shall only apply to these assets if they specifically 
relate to these non-current assets or to these disposal groups. 

	 The revision has been applied on a prospective basis starting January 1, 2010. The Interim Consolidated 
Financial Statements include the disclosure and classification according to the revisions in question.

c.	 Disclosure for new IFRS Standards in the Period Before their Application:

	 IFRS 3 - Business Combinations
	 The revisions to IFRS 3 deal with the following subjects:

	 Measurement of Non-Controlling Interests
	 The revision limits the cases featuring the option of selecting the manner of measuring non-controlling 

interests according to their fair value on the date of purchase or according to their relative share of the 
net identified assets of the purchased entity. According to the correction, this option exists only for types 
of non-controlling interests granting their owners ownership rights and the right to receive a relative 
portion (pro rata) of the net assets of the purchased company in the event of liquidation (generally 
shares). On the other hand, other types of non-controlling interests (for instance, options constituting 
equity instruments in the purchased company) feature no choice and therefore must be measured at 
fair value on their date of purchase, with the exception of other measurement instructions required 
according to other IFRS Standards such as IFRS 2. The revision has been in effect starting from the 
financial statements for periods staring January 1, 2011. The revision shall be applied retroactively 
from the date IFRS 3 (Revised) was first applied. Early implementation is possible.

	 Granting Share-Based Payments as Part of Business Combinations
	 The revision details the accounting treatment requirement within the framework of business combinations 

referring to the swapping of share-based payment transactions of the purchased company (whether 
it is required or chooses to replace them) with share-based payment transactions of the purchasing 
company. Accordingly, the purchasing company must assign a sum to the proceeds of the transaction on 
the date of purchase and a sum as an expense in the period subsequent to the purchase date. However, 
if as a result of the business combination the grant expires and is replaced by a new grant, then the 
value of the new grant as per IFRS 2 shall be recognized as an expense in the period subsequent to 
the purchase date and shall not be included in the proceeds of the purchase. Likewise, if share-based 
payment grants are not swapped, then if the instruments have matured they constitute part of the 
non-controlling interests and are measured as per IFRS 2 and if the instruments have not matured they 
are measured according to the value that they would have used if they had been granted anew on the 
purchase date, with this sum allocated between non-controlling interests and expenses subsequent to 
the balance sheet date. The revision has been in effect for the financial statements for periods starting 
January 1, 2011. The revision shall be applied retroactively from the date IFRS 3 was first applied. Early 
application is possible.
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	 The revision is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s Financial Statements.

	 IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting
	 In accordance with the revision to IAS 34, additional disclosure requirements were set in the interim 

financial statements regarding the circumstances likely to influence the fair value of financial instruments 
and their classification, transfers of financial instruments between various levels of the fair value 
scale, changes in the classification of financial assets as well as changes in contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets. The revision shall be applied retroactively starting with the financial statements for 
periods staring January 1, 2011. Early application is possible.

	 Required disclosure will be included in the Company’s Financial Statements.

	 IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements
	 In accordance with the revision, movement can be presented between opening balance and closing 

balance for any component of other comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity or 
as part of the notes to the Annual Financial Statements. The revision shall be applied retroactively 
starting from the financial statements for periods staring January 1, 2011. Early application is possible.

	 The revision is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s Financial Statements.

d.	 Following the revision to IAS 7, the Company retroactively adjusted the manner of presentation of 
transactions with non-controlling interests to financing activity in lieu of presenting them under certain 
circumstances in investment activity.

e.	 Reclassification: 

	 The Company has reclassified the “adjustments required to present cash flows from operating 
activities” item for the six and three month periods ending June 30, 2009 in order to adjust it to the 
present manner of presentation. It is made clear that there has been no change in net cash flows from 
operating activities, investment activities and financing activities.

NOTE 3: MATERIAL EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD 
a.	 In January 2010, Gazit Development closed an agreement to include REIT 1 Ltd. (“REIT 1”) as a partner, 

with a 49% stake in rights to three shopping centers located in Rishon LeZion, Afula and Yokne’am (“the 
Properties”), for total consideration of NIS 315 million, with NIS 24 million out of this consideration 
paid by allotment of REIT 1 shares, traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. Delivery of ownership 
and receipt of proceeds for the property in Yokne’am are expected in January 2011. This transaction 
includes a guaranteed yield mechanism for REIT 1, for a period of two to four years, and an incentive 
mechanism for Gazit Development with respect to surplus revenues. The parties have also signed a 
partnership agreement which includes, inter alia, customary departure mechanisms and right of first 
refusal. Gazit Development did not record a material gain from this sale in its financial statements.

 b.	 In January 2010, Gazit Development closed an agreement for sale of a 49% stake in a shopping center in 
Kfar Saba to Harel Insurance Group Ltd. (“Harel”), for consideration amounting to NIS 347 million. The 
transaction includes a guaranteed yield mechanism for Harel, for a period of four years, an incentive 
mechanism for Gazit Development with respect to surplus revenues, and a proceeds adjustment 
mechanism with respect to an area under construction, the proceeds for which constitute 15% of total 
proceeds in this transaction. The parties have also signed a partnership agreement which includes, 
inter alia, customary departure mechanisms and right of first refusal. Gazit Development did not record 
a material gain from this sale on its financial statements. 



INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

   GAZIT-GLOBE • Q2 2010 | 67

NOTES TO INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

c.	 In January 2010, FCR completed a public offering in Canada of C$ 125 million par value of unsecured 
debentures (Series H) through a shelf prospectus. The debentures bear fixed annual interest at 5.85% 
and mature in a single payment in January 2017.

d.	 Over the course of the reported period, ATR completed a full purchase offer for the balance of debentures 
(Series 2006) in circulation to the extent of € 233.8 million par value, in return for € 231.3 million. As 
a result of the purchase offer, the Group recorded a loss from the early redemption of debentures 
totaling approximately NIS 22 million, after amortizing the original outstanding difference accumulated 
in respect of the debentures.

e.	 In February 2010, the Company completed a private issue to institutional investors by way of private 
placement, of NIS 177.5 million par value of debentures (Series D) in return for a net consideration of 
NIS 200 million.

f.	 In February 2010, EQY exercised the right to purchase an additional 766 thousand shares of DIM 
in exchange for allotment of 537 thousand EQY shares. EQY also issued a purchase offer for the 
remaining DIM shares owned by the public, at a cash price of $ 7.3 per share. Over the course of the 
reported period, the purchase offer was completed for 1,760,000 DIM shares in return for $ 12.6 million 
(including shares purchased on the stock exchange), and EQY’s stake in DIM increased to 96.1%. EQY 
announced its plan to act to carry out a forced purchase of the remaining publicly-held DIM shares, 
for the purpose of removing DIM shares from trade on the Amsterdam Stock Exchange. In July 2010, 
a request to approve the forced purchase was submitted to the authorities in the Netherlands.

g.	 In March 2010, EQY completed the issue of 4.83 million shares to the public (including 630 thousand 
shares provided as an option to the underwriters), in return for a net yield of $ 87.6 million. EQY also 
sold 0.5 million shares and 0.1 million shares to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and to 
GAA, respectively, for consideration of $ 11 million. As a result of the issue and the sale, the stake in 
EQY dropped from 51.9% to 49.2% and the Group received a NIS 34 million capital increase, which was 
charged to the capital reserve from transactions with non-controlling interests.

h.	 1.	� In February 2010, the Company Board of Directors approved the allotment of 729,500 stock 
options to 5 officers and 13 employees of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, in 
accordance with the Company’s 2005 stock option plan. The stock options vest in four equal 
portions through the 5th anniversary of the grant date, at an exercise price of NIS 39.02 (CPI-
linked). The fair value of each stock option on the grant date based on the binomial model is 
NIS 15.4.

	 2.	� In April 2010, the Company Board of Directors approved an allocation of 50,000 options to an 
executive, in accordance with the Company’s 2005 stock option plan. The stock options vest in 
four equal portions through the 5th anniversary of the grant date, at an exercise price of NIS 38.93 
(CPI-linked). The fair value of each stock option on the grant date based on the binomial model 
is NIS 14.14.

i.	 On February 26, 2010, U. Dori Construction Ltd. (95.5% owned by U. Dori) (“Dori Construction”) 
published a prospectus for an initial public offering of securities on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. On 
March 14, 2010, Dori Construction completed issue to the public of 7 million shares and 2.3 million 
share options, for a net yield amounting to NIS 59 million. Due to this issue, U. Dori’s holding stake in 
Dori Construction decreased from 95.5% to 71.5% (64.6% fully diluted).

j.	 In March 2010, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company exercised 402 thousand share options to 
402 thousand FCR shares for an exercise increment of C$ 7.4 million.
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k.	 In April 2010, FCR completed a public issue in Canada of C$ 75 million par value debentures (Series 
I), unencumbered, through a shelf prospectus. The debentures bear 5.70% fixed yearly interest and 
are redeemable in a single payment in November 2017.

	 In June 2010, FCR issued, by way of a series expansion, C$ 50 million par value debentures (Series I) 
in return for C$ 50.5 million.

l.	 In May 2010, FCR completed a split of its Ordinary shares at a ratio of 3.2 Ordinary shares for 2 Ordinary 
shares. As of the balance sheet date FCR has 160,175 thousand Ordinary shares.

m.	 In June 2010, FCR completed a public issue of 3,485 thousand Ordinary shares for a gross yield of 
C$ 50 million. A wholly owned subsidiary of the Company purchased 697,000 shares in the issue in 
return for C$ 10 million. As a result of the issue, the Company’s holdings in FCR dropped from 50.3% 
to 49.6%, and the Company recognized a capital increase charged to capital reserve from transactions 
with non-controlling interests, to the amount of NIS 13 million. After the balance sheet date, the issue’s 
underwriters exercised an option granted to them as part of the issue, for the issue of 200,000 shares 
in return for C$ 2.9 million.

n.	 On April 12, 2010, Midroog announced that it would be reconfirming its A1 rating for all of the Company’s 
series of debentures in circulation and increasing its rating outlook from negative to stable.

	 On July 1, 2010, S&P Maalot announced that it would be reconfirming its A+ rating for all of the 
Company’s series of debentures in circulation and raising its rating outlook from negative to stable.

o.	 In May 2010, EQY announced that it had entered into an agreement to purchase Capital and Countries 
USA (“C&C USA”) through a joint venture (“the Joint Corporation”) with its parent company Capital 
Shopping Centers Group PLC (“the Seller”). C&C USA holds 15 income-producing properties in California 
with a total area of 241 thousand square meters, assessed at $ 600 million. In return, the Seller shall 
receive 4.1 million EQY shares and 10.9 million units in the Joint Corporation granting the Seller rights 
copying rights linked to EQY shares and which can be converted to 10.9 million EQY shares or into cash, 
as EQY chooses. A debt guaranteed by a mortgage to the amount of $ 330 million shall be converted to 
EQY as part of the transaction. The transaction is expected to take place at the end of Q3 2010 and is 
subject to generally accepted stipulations. Upon the completion of the transaction, the Group’s stake 
in EQY capital shall reach 47.1% (42.2% assuming the conversion of the units in the Joint Corporation 
to EQY shares). The completion of the transaction is not expected to lead to a material change in the 
capital attributable to the Company’s shareholders.

	 In addition, the Company (through its subsidiaries holding EQY shares; “the Group”) entered into a 
shareholders agreement with the Seller and with its parent company Liberty International Holdings PLC 
(together - “the Liberty Group”) and EQY, which will come into effect on the date of the transaction’s 
completion, which establishes among other things the following principles: (a) the Group shall support 
the appointment of a single director recommended by the Liberty Group, while the Liberty Group 
undertook to support the appointment of directors recommended by the Group; (b) the Liberty Group 
granted the Group a right of first offer in the event that EQY shares or the Joint Corporation units are 
sold, to the extent that this right is not exercised by EQY; (c) the Liberty Group was granted a tag-along 
right in the event of a Group transaction that in some way alters the nature of control of EQY; (d) the 
Liberty Group undertook to abstain from taking actions that may constitute an attempt to acquire 
control of EQY, and undertook not to purchase EQY securities above the agreed-upon threshold.

p.	 In May and June 2010, CTY entered into an agreement with three banks to provide unencumbered 
credit lines at variable interest rates for a 5-year period to the amount of € 150 million.
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q.	 On May 30, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a Company shelf prospectus, which was 
published on May 31, 2010.

r.	 During the second quarter of 2010 and subsequent to the reporting date, some of the financial covenants 
were revised within the framework of the Company and wholly owned subsidiaries having entered into 
updated financing agreements with several of the banks that provide them with credit facilities, such 
that the following covenants were added: 

1.	 The ratio of debt to the value of a subsidiary’s shares, which were given as collateral to secure the 
credit facility, shall not exceed 70%, with the value of the shares being calculated at the average 
of their quoted market price and their net asset value (NAV), as per the accounts of the subsidiary. 

2.	 The Company’s average quarterly EPRA Direct Result, over any two consecutive quarters, shall 
not be less than NIS 60 million. 

3.	 The ratio of CTY’s equity (including equity loans, but excluding minority interests, the fair value 
of derivatives and the tax effect thereof) to CTY’s total balance sheet shall not be less than 30%. 

4.	 The ratio of CTY’s EBITDA (with certain adjustments) to CTY’s net financial expenses shall not 
be less than 1.6. 

5.	 The ratio of FCR’s net financial debt, with the addition of the leverage that is reflected by the amount 
of bank credit utilized out of the total credit facility, to FCR’s EBITDA shall not exceed 14.2. 

6.	 The ratio of FCR’s EBITDA to FCR’s financial expenses shall not be less than 1.55. 

7.	 The ratio of FCR’s net financial debt, with the addition of the leverage that is reflected by the 
amount of credit utilized out of the total credit facility, to FCR’s total equity, deferred taxes and 
net financial debt shall not exceed 82%. 

8.	 The percentage of shares pledged shall not be less than the percentage that constitutes effective 
control over the subsidiary.

a.	 In July 2010, the Company completed, by way of a series expansion through a shelf proposal report, a 
public issue of NIS 431 million par value debentures (Series I) for a net yield of NIS 497 million.

b.	 In July 2010, FCR completed a public issue in Canada of C$ 50 million par value debentures (Series 
J), unencumbered, by way of a shelf prospectus. The debentures were issued in return for C$ 49.4 
million, bear fixed annual interest of 5.25% (effective interest of 5.45%), and are redeemable in a single 
payment in August 2018.

	 In August 2010, FCR announced that it had entered into an engagement with underwriters for the 
purpose of a public offering in Canada of C$ 50 million par value debentures (Series K), unsecured by 
pledges, using a shelf prospectus. The debentures will be issued in return for C$ 49.8 million, bear fixed 
annual interest of 4.95% (effective interest of 5.00%) and will be redeemable in a single installment in 
November 2018. FCR is expected to complete the offering by August 25, 2010.

c.	 In August 2010, GAA announced that it was issuing rights to purchase up to 2.57 million units, each 
of which is comprised of a single ordinary share and an option to purchase a single share for C$ 5 
per unit, this by September 13, 2010 (“the Units”). The Company, through wholly owned subsidiaries, 
undertook to exercise all the rights allocated it, as well as purchase all the Units not purchased by the 
other shareholders as part of the issue.

d.	 On August 22, 2010, the Company declared the distribution of a dividend of NIS 0.37 per share to be 
paid on October 4, 2010. The record date is September 19, 2010.
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NOTE 5:  OPERATING SEGMENTS 
Shopping 

Centers in 
the U.S.

Shopping 
Centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
Centers in 
Northern 

Europe

Shopping 
Centers 

in Central 
and 

Eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

Perfor-
mance of 
Contract 

Works

Other 
Segments

Adjust-
ments for 

Consoli-
dated

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

For the six month period ending 
June 30, 2010:

Segment revenues 532 856 490 160 332 245 (10) 2,605

Segment earnings 182 339 278 74 4 129 356 1,362

Financial expenses, net (522)

Income before taxes on income 840

Shopping 
Centers in 

the U.S.

Shopping 
Centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
Centers in 
Northern 

Europe

Shopping 
Centers 

in Central 
and 

Eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

Perfor-
mance of 
Contract 

Works

Other 
Segments

Adjust-
ments for 

Consoli-
dated

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

For the six month period ending 
June 30, 2009:

Segment revenues 557 742 495 - 259 244 (11) 2,286

Segment earnings (loss) 304 276 285 *)  (157) (1) 290 *)  (270) 727

Financial expenses, net (622)

Income before taxes on income 105

*)	 Reclassified due to the separate presentation of the segment “Shopping Centers in Central and Eastern Europe”.

Shopping 
Centers in 

the U.S.

Shopping 
Centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
Centers in 
Northern 

Europe

Shopping 
Centers 

in Central 
and 

Eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

Perfor-
mance of 
Contract 

Works

Other 
Segments

Adjust-
ments for 

Consoli-
dated

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

For the three month period 
ending June 30, 2010:

Segment revenues 270 432 234 76 176 125 (2) 1,311

Segment earnings 93 172 126 34 3 67 314 809

Financial expenses, net (369)

Income before taxes on income 440
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Shopping 
Centers in 

the U.S.

Shopping 
Centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
Centers in 
Northern 

Europe

Shopping 
Centers 

in Central 
and 

Eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

Perfor-
mance of 
Contract 

Works

Other 
Segments

Adjust-
ments for 

Consoli-
dated

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

For the three month period 
ending June 30, 2009:

Segment revenues 276 382 252 - 137 125 (8) 1,164

Segment earnings (loss) 98 147 149 *)  (61) 4 68 *)  (355) 50

Financial expenses, net (282)

Income before taxes on income (232)

*)	 Reclassified due to the separate presentation of the segment “Shopping Centers in Central and Eastern Europe”.

Shopping 
Centers in 

the U.S.

Shopping 
Centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
Centers in 
Northern 

Europe

Shopping 
Centers 

in Central 
and 

Eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

Perfor-
mance of 
Contract 

Works

Other 
Segments

Adjust-
ments for 

Consoli-
dated

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

For the year ending  
December 31 2009:

Segment revenues 1,067 1,525 1,019 - 598 493 (22) 4,680

Segment earnings (loss) 475 579 585 (259) *)  - 242 (903) 719

Financial expenses, net (161)

Income before taxes on income 558

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.

Segment Assets

Shopping 
Centers in 

the U.S.

Shopping 
Centers in 

Canada

Shopping 
Centers in 
Northern 

Europe

Shopping 
Centers 

in Central 
and 

Eastern 
Europe

Initiation 
and 

Perfor-
mance of 
Contract 

Works

Other 
Segments

Adjust-
ments for 

Consoli-
dated

Total

Unaudited

NIS in millions

June 30, 2010 9,005 14,083 10,754 3,356 629 5,851 7,130 50,808

June 30, 2009 8,514 11,748 11,782 *)  1,358 624 6,271 *)  8,183 48,480

December 31, 2009 (Audited) 8,621 12,864 11,882 3,561 624 6,284 7,668 51,504

*)	 Reclassified due to the separate presentation of the segment “Shopping Centers in Central and Eastern Europe”.
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Special Review of Separate Interim Financial Information as per Regulation 38d of the Securities 
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970 

Introduction
We have reviewed the separate interim financial information of Gazit-Globe Ltd. ("the Company") in accordance 
with Regulation 38d of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970 as of June 30, 2010 
and for the six and three month periods then ended. The Company's Board of Directors and management are 
responsible for the separate interim financial information. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this 
separate interim financial information based on our review.

We did not review the separate interim financial information from the financial statements of investees, the net 
assets of which less attributed liabilities charged to capital amount to NIS 6,665 million as of June 30, 2010 with 
the earnings from these investees amounting to a total of NIS 291 million and NIS 165 million for the six and three 
month periods then ended, respectively. The financial statements of these companies were reviewed by other 
auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the financial statements 
for those companies, is based on the reports of the other auditors.

Scope of the Review
We conducted our review in accordance with Review Standard 1 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
in Israel, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity." A review 
of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and 
accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope 
than an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel and consequently does 
not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified 
in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion
Based on our review and the review reports of other auditors, nothing has come to our attention that causes us 
to believe that the accompanying separate interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, 
pursuant to the provisions of Regulation 38d of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970.

Tel-Aviv, Israel KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER

August 22, 2010 A member of Ernst & Young Global
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GAZIT GLOBE LTD.
Financial data and financial information 
from the interim consolidated financial statements 

ATTRIBUTED TO THE COMPANY

The following is separate financial data and financial information from the Group’s Interim Consolidated Financial 
Statements as of June 30 2010, published as part of the interim reports (“Consolidated Financial Statements”) 
attributed to the Company, presented according to Regulation 38d of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and 
Immediate Reports), 1970.

Significant accounting policies applied for presentation of this financial data are set forth in Note 2 to the annual 
consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries are as defined in Note 1 of the Annual Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As of June 30 As of December 31

2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 61 81 356

Short-term investments - 1 *)   -

Short-term loans and current maturities of long-term loans to investees 96 57 73

Current taxes receivable - 1 2

Other accounts receivable 96 12 67

Total current assets 253 152 498

Non-Current Assets

Long-term loans and deposits 10 9 9

Financial derivatives 915 606 633

Fixed assets 4 4 5

Intangible assets - 1 -

Loans to investees 6,687 7,358 7,074

Debentures of investees 212 263 241

Investment in investees 7,075 6,098 7,300

Deferred taxes - 5 -

Total non-current assets 14,903 14,344 15,262

Total assets 15,156 14,496 15,760

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As of June 30 As of December 31

2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Current Liabilities

Current maturities of debentures 204 193 194

Trade payables 6 1 2

Current taxes payable 1 2 8

Other accounts payable 103 123 142

Dividend declared 51 47 50

Total current liabilities 365 366 396

Non-Current Liabilities

Bank loans 1,819 3,020 2,417

Debentures 7,681 7,149 7,705

Financial derivatives 4 29 5

Employee benefit liabilities 1 8 2

Deferred taxes 99 - 46

Total non-current liabilities 9,604 10,206 10,175

Equity Attributable to Company Shareholders

Share capital 192 184 192

Share premium 2,852 2,569 2,848

Reserves (891) (748) (602)

Retained earnings 3,034 1,919 2,751

Total equity 5,187 3,924 5,189

Total liabilities and equity 15,156 14,496 15,760

August 22, 2010

Approval Date of Financial 
Statements

Chaim Katzman
Chairman of the Board

Aharon Soffer
President

Gadi Cunia
CFO



  80 | GAZIT-GLOBE • Q2 2010  
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FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months Ending 
June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions (With the Exception of Net Earnings (Loss) Data Per Share)

Management fee revenues from investees 1 1 *)   - *)   - 3

Financial income from investees 134 253 70 132 482

Other financial income 322 35 151 5 150

Other income – gain from increase in holdings in subsidiary - 108 - 3 108

Gain from the sale of securities of investees - - - - 2

Total revenues 457 397 221 140 745

General and administrative expenses 21 42 13 11 57

Financial expenses 228 331 170 96 713

Total expenses 249 373 183 107 770

Income (loss) before earnings from investees, net 208 24 38 33 (25)

Earnings (loss) from investees, net 214 142 134 (123) 1,174

Income (loss) before taxes on income 422 166 172 (90) 1,149

Taxes on income 55 (7) 23 4 48

Net income (loss) attributable to the Company 367 173 149 (94) 1,101

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.
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FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months Ending 
June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Net income (loss) attributable to the Company 367 173 149 (94) 1,101

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the 
Company (after tax effect):

Gain (loss) from foreign currency translation differences 61 25 81 (87) 9

Loss from cash flow hedges 3 (16) 4 2 (12)

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the 
Company 64 9 85 (85) (3)

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to investees 
(after tax effect) (396) 379 (118) 29 508

Total other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the 
Company (332) 388 (33) (56) 505

Total income (loss) attributable to the Company 35 561 116 (150) 1,606
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS STATEMENTS

For the Six Months Ending 
June 30

For the Three Months Ending 
June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss) attributable to the Company 367 173 149 (94) 1,101

Adjustments required to present cash flows provided by (used in) 
operating activities of the Company:

Adjustments to profit and loss items of the Company:

Depreciation 1 *)   - 1 *)   - 1

Financial expenses (income), net (228) 43 (51) (41) 81

Loss (gain) from investees, net (214) (142) (134) 123 (1,174)

Cost of share-based payment 7 2 4 1 4

Taxes on income 55 (7) 23 4 48

Gain from the realization of investments in investees - - - - (2)

Change in employee benefit liabilities (1) 8 (1) 8 2

Gain from increase in holdings in investees - (108) - (3) (108)

(380) (204) (158) 92 (1,148)

Changes in asset and liability items of the Company:

Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable (2) 3 (3) (2) 51

Increase (decrease) in trade and other accounts payable 1 11 10 (11) 8

(1) 14 7 (13) 59

Cash received / paid during the period in the Company for:

Interest paid (285) (341) (121) (196) (516)

Interest received 26 15 2 8 32

Interest received from investees 162 152 116 53 348

Taxes paid (2) (3) (1) (2) (4)

Dividend received - *)   - - *)   - *)   -

Dividend received from investees 89 82 89 82 82

(10) (95) 85 (55) (58)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities of the Company (24) (112) 83 (70) (46)

*)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL DATA FROM THE COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS STATEMENTS

For the Six Months 
Ending June 30

For the Three Months 
Ending June 30

For the 
Year Ending 

December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009 2009

Unaudited Audited

NIS in millions

Cash flows from investing activities of the Company:

Purchase of fixed assets *)  -  *)  - *)  - *)  - (1)

Investments in investees - (96) - (3) (104)

Repayment (granting) of loans and capital notes to investees, net 98 104 (6) 342 186

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities - - - - 18

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of the Company 98 8 (6) 339 99

Cash flows from financing activities of the Company:

Issue of share capital (less issue expenses) - 108 - 108 391

Exercise of stock options into shares 1 1 *)  - 1 *)  -

Repayment of loans given for the purchase of Company shares *)  - *)  - *)  - *)  - *)  -

Dividend paid to Company shareholders (101) (85) (51) (42) (179)

Issue of debentures (less issue expenses) 190 507 - 117 963

Repayment and early redemption of debentures (194) (141) (44) (84) (148)

Short-term credit, net - - - (22) -

Withdrawal (repayment) of long term bank credit lines, net (265) (372) 7 (645) (891)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities of the Company (369) 18 (88) (567) 136

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (295) (86) (11) (298) 189

Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 356 167 72 379 167

Balance of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 61 81 61 81 356

(a) Material non-cash activity of the Company

Dividend payable 51 47 51 47 50

*‎)	 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

a.	 General
	 This financial information is prepared in a condensed format in accordance with Regulation 38d of the 

Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970. This separate financial information 
should be read in conjunction with the financial information in the annual financial statements as of 
December 31, 2009 and for the year then ended, with the accompanying notes thereto, as well as in 
conjunction with the interim consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2010 (“Interim Consolidated 
Financial Statements”).

b.	 Working Capital Deficiency
	 As of the balance sheet date, the Company has a working capital deficiency of NIS 112 million. The 

Company has unused lines of credit amounting to NIS 776 million (not including subsidiaries) that 
can be used in the coming year. Company management estimates that these sources will allow the 
Company to meet its short-term liabilities.

c.	 Investments and Material Transactions with Investees
1.	 Over the course of the first quarter of 2010, CTY announced that it would be distributing a dividend to the 

amount of € 30.9 million. The Company’s share in the dividend, paid in April 2010, is NIS 73.6 million.

2.	 Over the course of the first quarter of 2010, Gazit Development declared that it would be distributing 
a dividend to the amount of NIS 20 million. The Company’s share in the dividend, paid in June 2010, is 
NIS 15 million. 

d.	 Financial Covenants
	 For details regarding the engagement of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries in updated 

financing agreements with some of the banks that have provided them with a credit framework, to which 
several financial covenants were added, see Note 3r of the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.

e.	 Events Subsequent to the Balance Sheet Date
1.	 Debentures:

	 In July 2010, the Company completed, by way of a series expansion through a shelf proposal 
report, a public issue of NIS 431 million par value debentures (Series I) for a net yield of 
NIS 497 million.

2.	 Dividend Declared:

	 On August 22, 2010, the Company declared the distribution of a dividend of NIS 0.37 per share 
to be paid on October 4, 2010. The record date is September 19, 2010.
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